UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Previously Published Works

Title

Lepto-axiogenesis

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/17x8v2tm

Journal Journal of High Energy Physics, 2021(3)

ISSN 1126-6708

Authors

Co, Raymond T Fernandez, Nicolas Ghalsasi, Akshay <u>et al.</u>

Publication Date

2021-03-01

DOI

10.1007/jhep03(2021)017

Peer reviewed

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: August 4, 2020 ACCEPTED: January 13, 2021 Published: March 1, 2021

Lepto-axiogenesis

Raymond T. Co,^a Nicolas Fernandez,^b Akshay Ghalsasi,^{c,d} Lawrence J. Hall^{e,f} and Keisuke Harigaya^g

- ^aLeinweber Center for Theoretical Physics, Department of Physics, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, U.S.A.
- ^bDepartment of Physics, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL 61801, U.S.A.
- ^cDepartment of Physics, University of California Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, CA 95064, U.S.A.
- ^dSanta Cruz Institute for Particle Physics, Santa Cruz, CA 95064, U.S.A.
- ^eDepartment of Physics, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A.
- ^f Theoretical Physics Group, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A.
- ^gSchool of Natural Sciences, Institute for Advanced Study, Princeton, NJ 08540, U.S.A.

E-mail: rtco@umich.edu, nicofer@illinois.edu,

akshay.ghalsasi@gmail.com, 1jh@berkeley.edu, keisukeharigaya@ias.edu

ABSTRACT: We propose a baryogenenesis mechanism that uses a rotating condensate of a Peccei-Quinn (PQ) symmetry breaking field and the dimension-five operator that gives Majorana neutrino masses. The rotation induces charge asymmetries for the Higgs boson and for lepton chirality through sphaleron processes and Yukawa interactions. The dimension-five interaction transfers these asymmetries to the lepton asymmetry, which in turn is transferred into the baryon asymmetry through the electroweak sphaleron process. QCD axion dark matter can be simultaneously produced by dynamics of the same PQ field via kinetic misalignment or parametric resonance, favoring an axion decay constant $f_a \lesssim 10^{10}$ GeV, or by conventional misalignment and contributions from strings and domain walls with $f_a \sim 10^{11}$ GeV. The size of the baryon asymmetry is tied to the mass of the PQ field. In simple supersymmetric theories, it is independent of UV parameters and predicts the supersymmetry breaking mass scale to be $\mathcal{O}(10-10^4)$ TeV, depending on the masses of the neutrinos and whether the condensate is thermalized during a radiation or matter dominated era. The high supersymmetry breaking mass scale may be free from cosmological and flavor/CP problems. We also construct a theory where TeV scale supersymmetry





is possible. Parametric resonance may give warm axions, and the radial component of the PQ field may give signals in rare kaon decays from mixing with the Higgs and in dark radiation.

KEYWORDS: Cosmology of Theories beyond the SM, Beyond Standard Model, Supersymmetric Standard Model

ARXIV EPRINT: 2006.05687

Contents

1	Int	roduction	1
2	Axi	ogenesis and Majorana neutrino masses	3
	2.1	Axiogenesis	3
	2.2	Lepto-axiogenesis	5
3	Mo	dels with a quartic potential	8
	3.1	Rotation in a quartic potential	9
	3.2	Baryon asymmetry	10
		3.2.1 Rotation during a radiation dominated era	11
		3.2.2 Rotation before the completion of reheating	13
	3.3	Axion dark matter from parametric resonance	15
	3.4	Axion dark matter from kinetic misalignment	17
	3.5	Constraints on explicit PQ symmetry breaking	18
	3.6	Saxion thermalization	19
	3.7	Domain wall problem	22
4	Sup	persymmetric models	22
	4.1	Rotation in a nearly quadratic potential	23
	4.2	Baryon asymmetry	24
	4.3	Axion dark matter from parametric resonance	28
	4.4	Axion dark matter from kinetic misalignment	29
	4.5	Constraints on explicit PQ symmetry breaking	30
	4.6	Saxion thermalization	31
	4.7	Domain wall problem	32
	4.8	Oscillation by a thermal mass and TeV scale SUSY	33
5	Cor	nclusions and discussion	35
\mathbf{A}	Mo	dels of lepto-axiogenesis	37
в	Bol	tzmann equations	39
С	Kin	etic misalignment mechanism	40
D	Init	iation of rotations	41
\mathbf{E}	Ave	raged angular velocity and asymmetries	42
\mathbf{F}	Sca	ling laws in various cosmological eras for quadratic potentials	46
\mathbf{G}	Par	ametric resonance for the nearly quadratic potential	48

1 Introduction

Over several decades, as the standard models of particle physics and the early universe have solidified, the outstanding problems left unaddressed by this theory have become ever more pressing. These include the smallness of dimensionless parameters, such as the strong CP parameter and the light quark and lepton Yukawa couplings, as well as hierarchies between mass scales, e.g. those associated with dark energy, neutrino masses, and the weak and gravitational scales. Two cosmological issues are particularly pressing: the nature and abundance of dark matter (DM) and the origin of the small but crucial baryon asymmetry.

Indeed, with so much to explain, it is interesting to pursue simple ideas for new physics that make progress on several fronts. Grand unification [1] explains both the gauge quantum numbers of a fermion generation and the quantization of electric charge, as well as providing a framework for addressing gauge coupling unification [2], the baryon asymmetry and neutrino masses. Supersymmetry provides a dark matter candidate [3–5] and precise gauge coupling unification [6–11], and partially explains the smallness of the electroweak scale [3, 12–14].

In this paper, we introduce and study a framework that simultaneously addresses the strong CP problem, neutrino masses, the baryon asymmetry, and dark matter. We postulate a complex scalar field P with the following features:

- It spontaneously breaks a Peccei-Quinn (PQ) symmetry [15, 16] so that its phase $\theta(x)$ is the axion field [17, 18], which solves the strong CP problem [15, 16, 19].
- The radial component S of the field has a flat potential and a large field value early in the cosmological evolution, for example during inflation. When the field starts to oscillate, higher-dimensional PQ-breaking operators in the potential lead to a velocity of the angular field component $\dot{\theta} \neq 0$. Subsequently, this rotating PQ condensate carries a conserved PQ charge density, relative to entropy density s, of $Y_{\rm PQ} \sim \dot{\theta} S^2/s$.
- The QCD anomaly of the PQ symmetry leads to a strong sphaleron process in the early universe where $\dot{\theta}$ sources a particle-antiparticle asymmetry for quark chirality and, via Yukawa couplings and the electroweak sphaleron process, for the Higgs boson, H, and for lepton chirality. We assume that at these high temperatures neutrino masses are described by the dimension-five interaction $\ell\ell H^{\dagger}H^{\dagger}$ [20], which acts to transfer the Higgs asymmetry to a lepton asymmetry via freeze-in with an amplitude proportional to the neutrino mass.
- The standard model violates B + L via an anomaly from the electroweak gauge interaction [21, 22], and at temperatures above the weak scale this acts to redistribute the above lepton asymmetry among both quarks and leptons, yielding a baryon asymmetry $Y_B \propto Y_{PQ} m_{\nu}^2$. Note that both out-of-equilibrium and CP-violation requirements are satisfied by the PQ condensate.
- At temperatures near the GeV scale,
 θ may be sufficiently large that the conventional misalignment mechanism [23–25] for axion dark matter is inoperative. Instead, axion

dark matter is produced by the kinetic misalignment mechanism (KMM) [26] with a density $\rho_a \propto Y_{\rm PQ}/f_a$. The ratio of dark matter and baryon densities is independent of $Y_{\rm PQ}$. The QCD axion can explain the dark matter density of the universe for $f_a < 10^{11} \,\text{GeV}$, while large f_a requires entropy production after the QCD phase transition.

• After the field starts rotating, depending on the shape of the potential and the rotations, parametric resonance (PR) [27–30] may be effective at producing axions. If not thermalized, these axions contribute to the dark matter density [31, 32] and may be warm enough to affect structure formation at an observable level.

Our work builds on several developments beginning in the 1980s. Affleck and Dine [33] introduced a rotating condensate that carried baryon charge, with a baryon asymmetry generated from the decay of the condensate. With spontaneous baryogenesis [34, 35], Cohen and Kaplan proposed that the angular velocity of the condensate could act as an effective chemical potential for a thermal bath, generating a baryon asymmetry for the quarks using a baryon number violating interaction. Conversion of lepton asymmetry into baryon asymmetry by electroweak sphaleron processes was utilized in leptogenesis [36, 37]. Possibilities for generating the baryon asymmetry by electroweak sphaleron processes at a first order electroweak phase transition, called electroweak baryogenesis, were investigated in [22, 38, 39].

In later work, it was realized that baryogenesis could result from a condensate carrying charge Q other than baryon number [40, 41], although these papers required an interaction that violates both Q and B to be in thermal equilibrium. Baryogenesis by the $\ell\ell H^{\dagger}H^{\dagger}$ interaction and the coupling of the angular velocity of the condensate with weak gauge bosons was investigated in [42]. The angular direction was assumed to oscillate rather than orbit. The oscillation was caused by a large mass for the angular direction and the connection with the QCD axion was not obvious; however, ref. [43] proposed a way to identify the angular direction with the QCD axion by giving it a large mass only in the early universe. For oscillations, the baryon asymmetry is dominantly produced at the beginning of the oscillation, while for rotations, considered in this paper, the production may be dominated at a much later time, qualitatively changing the physical picture.

Axiogenesis [44] uses the condensate of a PQ field and B + L number violation from the electroweak sphaleron process, and is closer to our work. The baryon asymmetry is produced near the weak scale, well after the radial component of the PQ field has settled to f_a . Although the observed baryon asymmetry can be explained by the mechanism, the kinetic misalignment mechanism overproduces axion dark matter, unless a new ingredient is added, for example by raising the temperature of the electroweak phase transition above the weak scale. In the setup we discuss in this paper, the baryon asymmetry is produced much before the electroweak phase transition with aid from the $\ell\ell H^{\dagger}H^{\dagger}$ interaction. We call the mechanism lepto-axiogenesis.

Since the radial component of the PQ symmetry breaking field evolves, approximate PQ charge conservation implies that $\dot{\theta}$ decreases slower than the case with a constant radial

component, or even stays constant. When the baryon asymmetry is dominantly produced depends on the potential of the PQ symmetry breaking field.

We first investigate the simplest potential of the PQ symmetry breaking field with a negative quadratic term and a positive quartic term. We show that the observed baryon asymmetry can be explained by lepto-axiogenesis, and the reheat temperature after inflation may be as low as 10^9 GeV.

We next investigate supersymmetric theories where the PQ symmetry breaking has a nearly quadratic potential given by soft supersymmetry breaking, and is naturally flat. Assuming the oscillation of P is initiated by the zero-temperature mass, the observed baryon asymmetry determines the scale of supersymmetry breaking to be 30 - 700 TeV and 300 - 7000 TeV for degenerate and hierarchical neutrino masses, respectively. This should be compared with Affleck-Dine baryogenesis from squarks and sleptons, where the soft mass scale is not restricted. The reheat temperature after inflation may be as low as 10^7 GeV. We also discuss the case where the oscillation is initiated by a thermal potential and show that TeV scale supersymmetry can be consistent with baryogenesis from the rotation of P.

In these two theories, one with supersymmetry and the other without, we investigate how the parameter space is restricted when we require cogenesis of the baryon asymmetry and axion dark matter.

This paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we review the mechanism of axiogenesis and introduce the new lepto-axiogenesis scenario. Sections 3 and 4 investigate the PQ symmetry breaking field P for quartic and nearly quadratic potentials, respectively. Finally, section 5 is devoted to a summary of the results and presents our conclusions.

2 Axiogenesis and Majorana neutrino masses

In this section, we first review axiogenesis introduced in [44] as a mechanism of baryogenesis involving the QCD axion. We then introduce lepto-axiogenesis.

2.1 Axiogenesis

Let us assume that the PQ symmetry is explicitly broken in the early universe, and the explicit breaking induces a rotation in the phase direction of the PQ symmetry breaking field P, which has a radial component S and an angular component θ ,

$$P = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (f_a N_{\rm DW} + S) e^{i\theta/N_{\rm DW}}.$$
 (2.1)

Here $N_{\rm DW}$ is the domain wall number and we define θ so that it receives a potential with a periodicity of 2π from QCD. The rotation corresponds to PQ charge asymmetry,

$$n_{\rm PQ} = \frac{1}{N_{\rm DW}} \left(i \dot{P}^* P - i \dot{P} P^* \right) = \dot{\theta} f_{\rm eff}^2,$$

$$f_{\rm eff}^2 \equiv \left(f_a + \frac{S}{N_{\rm DW}} \right)^2,$$
 (2.2)



Figure 1. Transfer of asymmetries for axiogenesis.

where f_{eff} takes into account that the effective decay constant may be different in the early universe from today's value f_a . Since the PQ symmetry has a QCD anomaly, the PQ asymmetry is partially converted into chiral asymmetry of quarks via strong sphaleron transitions. The chiral asymmetry is further converted into B + L asymmetry via electroweak sphaleron transitions. If the PQ symmetry also has weak anomaly, the PQ asymmetry is directly converted into B + L asymmetry. The flow of the asymmetries is shown in figure 1.

The sphaleron transition is effective for low enough temperature. The electroweak sphaleron transition rate per unit time and volume is given by [45]

$$\Upsilon_{\rm ws} \simeq 20 \times \alpha_2^5 T^4. \tag{2.3}$$

The transitions creating and destroying baryon asymmetry occur almost at the same rate, but asymmetry of fermion numbers induces small bias to the transitions of the two directions. B + L asymmetry is produced with a rate $\Gamma_{\rm ws} \equiv \Upsilon_{\rm ws}/T^3$ [46]. The asymmetry of quark doublets q and lepton doublets ℓ evolve as

$$\dot{n}_{\ell} = \Gamma_{\rm ws}(-n_q - n_{\ell}) + \cdots$$
$$\dot{n}_q = 3\Gamma_{\rm ws}(-n_q - n_{\ell}) + \cdots, \qquad (2.4)$$

and reach equilibrium value if $\Gamma_{ws} > H$. For radiation domination, $\Gamma_{ws} > H$ is satisfied for

$$T < T_{\rm ws} \equiv 20 \left(\frac{90}{\pi^2 g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \alpha_2^5 M_{\rm Pl} \simeq 10^{11} \ {\rm GeV} \left(\frac{g_{\rm SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{\alpha_2}{1/40}\right)^5, \tag{2.5}$$

where $g_{\rm SM} = 106.75$ the full Standard Model degrees of freedom and $M_{\rm Pl} = 2.4 \times 10^{18}$ GeV the reduced Planck mass.

The strong sphaleron transition rate per unit time and volume is given by [47]

$$\Upsilon_{\rm ss} \simeq 200 \times \alpha_3^5 T^4, \tag{2.6}$$

which is in equilibrium when $\Gamma_{\rm ss} \equiv \Upsilon_{\rm ss}/T^3 > H$, corresponding to the temperature

$$T < T_{\rm ss} \equiv 200 \left(\frac{90}{\pi^2 g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \alpha_3^5 M_{\rm Pl} \simeq 3 \times 10^{12} \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{g_{\rm SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{\alpha_3}{1/35}\right)^5, \tag{2.7}$$

in a radiation-dominated universe.

The equilibrium values of baryon and lepton asymmetry are given by

$$n_B = n_L = c_B \dot{\theta} T^2 = c_B \frac{T^2}{f_{\text{eff}}^2} n_{\text{PQ}},$$
 (2.8)

where c_B is a constant whose natural value is $\mathcal{O}(0.1)$, and we assume $f_{\text{eff}} \gg T$. Minimizing the free energy leads to most of the PQ charge asymmetry remaining in the form of condensate rotation, rather than as asymmetry of particles in the thermal bath [44], explaining why the baryon and lepton asymmetries are much smaller than the PQ charge asymmetry. Similarly, other particle asymmetries such as quark/lepton chiral asymmetries and the Higgs number asymmetry are also much smaller than the PQ charge asymmetry.

The baryon asymmetry is fixed around a temperature $T_{\text{ws,FO}}$, below which the electroweak sphaleron transition becomes ineffective. The baryon asymmetry normalized by the entropy density s is then given by

$$Y_B \equiv \frac{n_B}{s} = c_B \frac{T_{\rm ws,FO}^2}{f_a^2} \frac{n_{\rm PQ}}{s} = 8 \times 10^{-11} \left(\frac{c_B}{0.1}\right) \left(\frac{T_{\rm ws,FO}}{130 \text{ GeV}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{10^8 \text{ GeV}}{f_a}\right)^2 \left(\frac{Y_{\rm PQ}}{500}\right), \quad (2.9)$$

where it is assumed $f_{\text{eff}} = f_a$ by the time $T = T_{\text{ws,FO}}$.

The non-zero value of $\dot{\theta}$ affects the axion dark matter abundance. Usually the QCD axion begins oscillation around the minimum once the axion mass exceeds the Hubble expansion rate H around the QCD phase transition. For large enough $Y_{\rm PQ}$, the axion moves rapidly even around the QCD phase transition, and the beginning of the oscillation is delayed [26]. The resultant dark matter abundance is enhanced in comparison with the conventional misalignment mechanism. The yield Y_a of the axion oscillation is as large as the PQ charge asymmetry. The yield of the axion to explain the observed dark matter abundance is

$$Y_{a,\text{DM}} = \frac{\rho_{\text{DM}}/s}{m_a} = 70 \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right).$$
 (2.10)

Using this, the axion abundance is

$$\Omega_a h^2 \simeq \Omega_{\rm DM} h^2 \left(\frac{10^8 \text{ GeV}}{f_a}\right) \left(\frac{Y_{\rm PQ}}{4}\right).$$
(2.11)

We review this kinetic misalignment mechanism in appendix C.

For the SM prediction $T_{\rm ws,FO} \simeq 130 \,\text{GeV} [45]$, $c_B \sim 1$ and the decay constraint satisfying the astrophysical lower bound $f_a \gtrsim 10^8 \,\text{GeV} [48-54]$, axion dark matter is overproduced. In ref. [44], this problem is avoided by 1) an early electroweak phase transition from a new scalar coupled to the Higgs or 2) $c_B \gg 1$ by large coupling between the axion and the weak gauge boson.

2.2 Lepto-axiogenesis

As seen in axiogenesis, the non-zero velocity of the axion field $\hat{\theta}$ induces a quark chiral asymmetry as well as Higgs number and lepton chiral asymmetries via the anomaly of the PQ symmetry and sphaleron transitions. More generally, the axion velocity can also directly generate Higgs number and lepton chiral asymmetries depending on the UV theory of the axion. If B - L symmetry is explicitly broken, these asymmetries may give rise to a B - L asymmetry. Since the B - L asymmetry is not washed-out by electroweak sphalerons, the baryon asymmetry may be generated far above the electroweak phase transition, evading the problem of overproducing axion dark matter. If neutrino masses are Majorana, the explicit breaking of lepton symmetry can convert the asymmetries generated from the axion velocity into B - L asymmetry at high temperatures. We call this scenario lepto-axiogenesis.

To be concrete, we generate Majorana neutrino masses from the dimension-five operator [20]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{2M_5} \ell \ell H^{\dagger} H^{\dagger} = \frac{m_{\nu}}{2v_{\rm EW}^2} \ell \ell H^{\dagger} H^{\dagger}, \qquad (2.12)$$

which may arise from the seesaw mechanism [55–58]. Here ℓ and H are lepton and Higgs doublets. In this paper, we assume that the states which generate the dimension-five operator, e.g. right-handed neutrinos, are heavier than the energy scale of interest. This operator converts the Higgs number asymmetry and/or the lepton chiral asymmetry into B - L asymmetry at a rate

$$\Gamma_L \simeq \frac{1}{4\pi^3} \frac{\bar{m}^2}{v_{\rm EW}^4} T^3,$$
(2.13)

where $v_{\rm EW} = 174$ GeV and $\bar{m}^2 = \Sigma_i m_i^2$ is the sum of active neutrino masses squared. The bound from cosmology, $\sum m_i < 0.3$ eV (TT,TE,EE+lowE) [59], and neutrino oscillation data require

$$0.0024 \text{ eV}^2 < \bar{m}^2 < 0.03 \text{ eV}^2. \tag{2.14}$$

The interaction is in thermal equilibrium, $\Gamma_L > H$, if

$$T > T_L \equiv \left(\frac{\pi^2 g_*}{90}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{4\pi^3 v_{\rm EW}^4}{\bar{m}^2 M_{\rm Pl}} \simeq 5 \times 10^{12} \text{ GeV}\left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\rm SM}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right),$$
(2.15)

where radiation domination is assumed.

For $T > T_L$ (or more generically $\Gamma_L > H$), since the B - L symmetry breaking by the Majorana mass term is in thermal equilibrium, any B - L asymmetry produced at $T > T_L$ is continually re-equilibrated as the temperature falls. Hence, the final B - L asymmetry is dominantly produced at $T \le T_L$. At any temperature $T < T_L$, the B - L asymmetry is produced at a rate

$$\dot{n}_{B-L} = \Gamma_L \left(n_\ell - \frac{n_H}{2} \right), \tag{2.16}$$

where n_{ℓ} and n_H are the lepton doublet and Higgs asymmetries, respectively. If all interactions converting the PQ charge asymmetry into n_{ℓ} or n_H are in thermal equilibrium, one finds that $n_{\ell} - n_H/2 \sim \dot{\theta}T^2$. Generically at a given temperature, some of the interactions are out of thermal equilibrium, suppressing the production of B - L asymmetry,

$$\dot{n}_{B-L} = \Gamma_L \times c_{B-L} \,\dot{\theta} T^2 \times \prod_i \min\left(1, \frac{\Gamma_i}{H}\right),\tag{2.17}$$



Figure 2. Transfer of asymmetries for lepto-axiogenesis for the scenario KSVZ-heavy.

where *i* runs over the interactions necessary for the production of B - L, e.g. strong and electroweak sphaleron processes and Yukawa interactions. Here c_{B-L} is an $\mathcal{O}(0.01 - 0.1)$ coefficient whose value depends on the set of interactions that are in thermal equilibrium. For the cosmological era with $\Gamma_L \leq H$, the B - L asymmetry produced per Hubble time is

$$\Delta n_{B-L} = \frac{\Gamma_L}{H} \times c_{B-L} \,\dot{\theta} T^2 \times \prod_i \min\left(1, \frac{\Gamma_i}{H}\right). \tag{2.18}$$

The final baryon asymmetry is then given by

$$Y_B = C \times Y_{B-L}.\tag{2.19}$$

Throughout this work, we assume only Standard Model particles are present during the electroweak phase transition so C = 28/79 and we define $c_B \equiv C \times c_{B-L}$ to be consistent with eq. (2.8).

In lepto-axiogenesis, the production of n_{B-L} occurs at high temperatures, where the UV completion of the QCD axion becomes crucial in understanding the efficiency of the production. There exist four possible scenarios for lepto-axiogenesis based on the KSVZ [60, 61] and DFSZ [62, 63] UV completions of the QCD axion. The KSVZ quarks can be either heavy or light compared to the temperature and the possible transfers of the asymmetries are described in KSVZ-heavy and KSVZ-light, while the DFSZ two Higgs doubles can be heavy or light as well, whose possible asymmetry routes are described in DFSZ-light and DFSZ-heavy. We describe KSVZ-heavy below in detail and others in appendix A.

KSVZ-heavy. KSVZ model with heavy quarks.

We consider a KSVZ model and assume that the KSVZ fermions have a mass much larger than the temperature of the universe, so that among the particles in the thermal bath, the axion couples only to gauge bosons. The flow of the asymmetry production via various Standard Model processes and the Majorana neutrino mass is shown in figure 2. The interaction rates for the top Yukawa interaction $\sim \alpha_3 y_t^2 T$ and the strong sphaleron transition are largest among Standard Model interactions. From figure 2, one can see that the suppression occurs if either or both are not in thermal equilibrium.

		Equ	ulibrium	Co	0				
$\Gamma_{\rm ss}$	$\alpha_3 y_t^2 T$	Γ_L	$\Gamma_{\rm ws}$	$\alpha_3 y_\tau^2 T$	$\alpha_2 y_b^2 T$	n_{B-L}	n_{B+L}	$n_{\bar{\tau}}$	cB-T
\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	×	X	$\frac{7-4c_W}{26}$
\checkmark	\checkmark	X	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	×	$\frac{7-4c_W}{35}$
\checkmark	\checkmark	X	X	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	X	$\frac{1}{8}$
\checkmark	\checkmark	×	×	×	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	$\frac{1}{10}$
\checkmark	\checkmark	X	×	×	×	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	$\frac{1}{10}$

Table 1. Values of c_{B-L} for different sets of interactions in equilibrium using simplified Boltzmann equations presented in appendix **B**.

The B - L asymmetry produced per Hubble time is

$$\Delta n_{B-L} = \frac{\Gamma_L}{H} \times c_{B-L} \dot{\theta} T^2 \times \min\left(1, \frac{\Gamma_{\rm ss}}{H}\right) \times \min\left(1, \frac{\alpha_3 y_t^2 T}{H}\right). \tag{2.20}$$

In the cosmological evolution we consider in this paper, we find that the suppression by the top Yukawa does not enter for the final B - L asymmetry. In table 1, we show the values of c_{B-L} whether the electroweak sphaleron, the bottom Yukawa, and the tau Yukawa are in thermal equilibrium or not.¹ We include the possibility that the PQ symmetry has a weak anomaly with c_W the anomaly coefficient normalized to that of QCD. Here we only consider the third generation fermions for simplicity. We expect c_{B-L} to be of the same order for the actual cases with three generations.

The resultant baryon asymmetry in eq. (2.19) depends on the cosmological evolution of $\dot{\theta}$, $f_{\rm eff}$ T and H as can be seen from eqs. (2.20), (A.1), (A.3), and (A.4). In the following sections, we investigate concrete scenarios and show that the observed baryon asymmetry $Y_B^{\rm obs} = 8.7 \times 10^{-11}$ [59] can be explained by lepto-axiogenesis. We essentially focus on a KSVZ model with heavy quarks as described in KSVZ-heavy and comment on the connection to other cases in passing and in appendix A.

In the concrete scenarios we consider, the rotation of P is generically not completely circular, and during a cycle $\dot{\theta}$ may change rapidly. In appendix E, we show that in most cases the baryon asymmetry produced per Hubble time is simply given by replacing $\dot{\theta}$ with a cycle averaged one, $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$.

3 Models with a quartic potential

In this and the next section, we consider a scenario where the rotation of the PQ symmetry breaking field P is initiated by a higher-dimensional operator of P in a similar manner to the Affleck-Dine mechanism [33, 64, 65]. We assume that the radial direction S of the field

¹The values of c_{B-L} given in table 1 are presented in the approximation $y_t \gg y_b$ for the cases where the bottom Yukawa interaction is in equilibrium. A source of an $\mathcal{O}(10)$ error arises in this approximation when α_3 is small as in the Standard Model at high energies.

P defined in eq. (2.1), which we call the "saxion" following supersymmetric terminology, has a flat potential. Then in the early universe, the saxion may have a large field value. We consider the scenario where the large field value is developed during inflation and is therefore homogenized by inflation. For a sufficiently large field value, a higher-dimensional potential of P which explicitly breaks the PQ symmetry,

$$V_{\mathcal{PQ}}(P) = A \frac{P^n}{M^{n-3}} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (3.1)$$

may not be negligible. Here M is a cut-off scale and A is a dimensionful parameter. (The parametrization by A is motivated by a supersymmetric theory discussed later.) The explicit breaking gives a potential to the angular direction θ and drives a homogeneous angular motion. As can be seen from appendix D, a substantial rotation results even when the saxion initial field value is smaller than M, maintaining the validity of the effective theory.

The rotation also produces axion dark matter via parametric resonance or kinetic misalignment. We estimate the abundance and show the constraint on the parameter space.

3.1 Rotation in a quartic potential

In this section, we study the simplest potential for spontaneous PQ symmetry breaking,

$$V_{\rm PQ}(P) = \lambda^2 \left(|P|^2 - \frac{f_a^2 N_{\rm DW}^2}{2} \right)^2, \tag{3.2}$$

which leads to a saxion vacuum mass $m_S = \sqrt{2\lambda}N_{\text{DW}}f_a$. When $|P| \gg f_a$, the potential is dominated by the quartic term. The saxion mass around the initial large field value S_i is

$$m_S(S_i) = \lambda S_i \simeq 10^6 \text{ GeV}\left(\frac{\lambda}{10^{-10}}\right) \left(\frac{S_i}{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}\right).$$
(3.3)

The saxion begins to oscillate when $m_S(S_i) \simeq 3H$. For a radiation-dominated universe, this occurs at a temperature

$$T_{\rm osc} \simeq 5 \times 10^{11} \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{g_{\rm SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{\lambda}{10^{-10}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{S_i}{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.4)

As the saxion begins to oscillate, the explicit PQ symmetry breaking potential (3.1) kicks P in the angular direction, inducing a non-zero angular velocity. During the rotation, S oscillates. We define \bar{S} as

$$\bar{S}^2 \equiv \left\langle S^2 \right\rangle,\tag{3.5}$$

which is roughly the amplitude of the oscillation of S. After the beginning of the rotation, the energy density and \bar{S} scale as R^{-4} and R^{-1} , respectively. As \bar{S} decreases, the explicit PQ symmetry breaking soon becomes ineffective and the PQ asymmetry is conserved. We parameterize the resultant PQ charge asymmetry $n_{\rm PQ}$ defined in eq. (2.2) using a parameter $\epsilon \leq 1$ defined by

$$n_{\rm PQ} \equiv \frac{\epsilon}{N_{\rm DW}} \omega S_{\rm max}^2, \quad n_S \equiv \frac{1}{\omega} \left(\frac{d|P|}{dt}\right)_{\rm max}^2, \quad \omega^2 \equiv \left.\frac{V'(S)}{S}\right|_{\rm max}, \tag{3.6}$$

$$n_{\rm PQ} \simeq \frac{4\epsilon}{N_{\rm DW}} n_S, \qquad n_S \simeq \frac{1}{4} \lambda S_{\rm max}^3, \qquad \omega \simeq \lambda S_{\rm max}, \qquad \text{for } \epsilon \ll 1, \quad (3.7)$$

where max denotes the maximum value during a cycle. Here n_S and ω can be approximately understood as the number density of S and the frequency of the motion. A detailed estimation of ϵ is given in appendix D.

The rotation is generically not circular, and $\dot{\theta}$ oscillates in time. Its time-average is

$$\left\langle \dot{\theta} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\Delta t} \int_{t}^{t+\Delta t} \mathrm{d}t' \dot{\theta}(t') = \frac{\theta(t+\Delta t) - \theta(t)}{\Delta t}.$$
 (3.8)

For coherently rotating P (i.e. $\epsilon \neq 0$), this is given by the frequency of the rotation,

$$\left\langle \dot{\theta} \right\rangle \simeq N_{\rm DW} \, m_S(\bar{S}), \tag{3.9}$$

whose order of magnitude value does not depend on ϵ and scales as R^{-1} . For $\epsilon \ll 1$, the frequency of the rotation approaches that of the oscillation with $\epsilon = 0$. As a result, for $\epsilon \ll 1$, the precise value of $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$ becomes almost independent of ϵ . The independence from ϵ can suppress baryon isocurvature perturbations arising from lepto-axiogenesis. The dependence of $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$ on ϵ is discussed in appendix E in detail.

During the rotation of P, fluctuations of P are produced by parametric resonance unless the rotation is very close to a circular one, $\epsilon > 0.8$ [66]. By a numerical computation, we find that $\epsilon > 0.8$ cannot be achieved by the rotation from higher dimensional operator unless n = 5. As we show in section 3.5, n = 5 gives too large an axion mass at the vacuum and reintroduce the strong CP problem. Once the amplitude of the fluctuations becomes comparable to the amplitude of the rotation, parametric resonance is terminated by the back-reaction, and the field value of P is randomized. For the quartic potential, this occurs around $\bar{S} \sim 10^{-2}/10^{-4} S_i$ during a radiation/matter dominated era [67–69]. The average value of $\dot{\theta}$ now depends on ϵ . From the PQ charge conservation,

$$\epsilon n_S \simeq N_{\rm DW} n_{\rm PQ} = \frac{1}{N_{\rm DW}} \left\langle \dot{\theta} S^2 \right\rangle \simeq \frac{1}{N_{\rm DW}} \left\langle \dot{\theta} \right\rangle \bar{S}^2.$$
 (3.10)

Here the averages of $\dot{\theta}$ and S^2 are separated, since P is randomized and θ and S move independently. Using $n_S \simeq m_S(\bar{S})\bar{S}^2$, we obtain

$$\left\langle \dot{\theta} \right\rangle \simeq \epsilon N_{\rm DW} m_S(\bar{S}).$$
 (3.11)

Parametric resonance reduces the source term driving asymmetries by order ϵ .

3.2 Baryon asymmetry

We investigate the parameter space where lepto-axiogenesis explains the observed baryon asymmetry. We consider scenarios where the onset of field rotation occurs after or before the end of reheating in the following subsections. In spite of the assumption of KSVZheavy, the results still apply identically to some models in KSVZ-light and DFSZ-light as long as the oscillation occurs when the non-thermal mass assumed in eq. (3.4) dominates over the thermal masses from the light PQ-charged particles and the production of n_{B-L} matches the form given in eq. (2.20). For example, the additional interactions relevant for Δn_{B-L} in eqs. (A.1), (A.3), and (A.4) should be in thermal equilibrium in order to match eq. (2.20). These additional conditions can be straightforwardly examined but we will not investigate the applicability further to avoid obscuring the discussion.

3.2.1 Rotation during a radiation dominated era

In a radiation-dominated universe for $(T < T_{\rm ss}, T_{\rm ss} < T < T_L, T_L < T), Y_B \equiv n_B/s \propto (T, T^0, T^{-1})$ respectively based on the scaling in eq. (2.20). For $T_{\rm osc} < T_{\rm ss}$, i.e. $m_S(S_i) \lesssim 3 \times 10^7 \text{ GeV} (35\alpha_3)^{10} (g_{\rm SM}/g_*)^{1/2}$, the production of the baryon asymmetry from the PQ asymmetry is UV-dominated and peaks at the beginning of the oscillation. For $T_{\rm osc} > T_{\rm ss}$, the baryon asymmetry is dominantly produced at $T = \min(T_L, T_{\rm osc})$. For $m_S(S_i) \gtrsim 10^8 \text{ GeV} (0.03 \text{ eV}^2/\bar{m}^2)^2 (g_*/g_{\rm SM})^{3/2}$, we have $T_{\rm osc} > T_L$. Assuming the saxion is thermalized before dominating the energy density, the produced baryon asymmetry is

$$Y_B \simeq \frac{n_B}{s} \Big|_{T=\min(T_L, T_{\rm osc})} \simeq \frac{c_B \dot{\theta} T^2}{s} \Big|_{T=T_{\rm osc}} \times \min\left(1, \frac{\Gamma_{\rm ss}}{H}\right) \times \frac{\Gamma_L}{H} \Big|_{T=\min(T_L, T_{\rm osc})}$$
(3.12)
$$\simeq 10^{-10} N_{\rm DW} \left(\frac{c_B}{0.1}\right) \left(\frac{\bar{m}^2}{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}\right)$$
$$\times \begin{cases} 0.8 \left(\frac{g_{\rm SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{m_S(S_i)}{200 \text{ TeV}}\right) & \text{for } T_{\rm osc} < T_{\rm ss} \\ 200 \left(\frac{g_{\rm SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{7}{4}} \left(\frac{m_S(S_i)}{10^8 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{\alpha_3}{1/35}\right)^5 & \text{for } T_{\rm osc} > T_{\rm ss} \end{cases},$$

where we use $\dot{\theta}(T_{\rm osc}) = N_{\rm DW} m_S(S_i)$ from eq. (3.9). The observed value $Y_B^{\rm obs}$ is explained with $m_S(S_i) \simeq 200$ TeV $(0.1/c_B)(0.03 \text{ eV}/\bar{m}^2)$, while larger values of $m_S(S_i)$ require dilution especially if α_3 is larger than SM value in the case $T_{\rm osc} > T_{\rm ss}$. If $T_{\rm osc} \gtrsim 100 T_L$, parametric resonance becomes effective at $T > T_L$, and the B - L asymmetry produced at $T \simeq T_L$ is suppressed by ϵ as explained below eq. (3.9).

In figure 3, the observed baryon asymmetry can be generated throughout the unshaded region of the (m_S, f_a) plane. In the green-shaded region, S_i exceeds the Planck scale, and a secondary inflation by the saxion occurs; the baryon asymmetry is diluted and lepto-axiogenesis cannot explain the observed baryon asymmetry. Contours of the required initial saxion field S_i are shown by blue dotted lines, with values varying from the Planck scale to 10^{14} GeV and below.

Due to assumptions about the heavy KSVZ quarks (see KSVZ-heavy), the thermal logarithmic potential [70] becomes important and the oscillation occurs earlier than in eq. (3.4) when $S_i \leq 3 \times 10^{16} \text{ GeV}(35\alpha_3)(g_*/g_{\text{SM}})^{1/4}$. We continue the computation to lower values of S_i because the results may still be applicable to other cases in KSVZ-light and DFSZ-light with conditions mentioned earlier. However, if S_i becomes too small the estimation of the baryon asymmetry necessarily changes. For example, let us consider a coupling with a light particle $yPQ\bar{Q}$ as in KSVZ-light. For the oscillation to begin in the zero-temperature potential rather than in the thermal potential, requires

$$y < 2 \times 10^{-6} \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\rm SM}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{m_S(S_i)}{10^3 \text{ TeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.13)

On the other hand, the charge of rotating P must be efficiently transferred into the chiral asymmetry of $Q\bar{Q}$ in order for the baryon asymmetry to reproduce the case of KSVZ-heavy

with $T_{\rm osc} < T_{\rm ss}$. This requires $\Gamma \simeq \alpha_3 m_Q (S_i)^2 / T_{\rm osc} > H(T_{\rm osc})$ as discussed in KSVZ-light, which translates to

$$y > 2 \times 10^{-6} \left(\frac{1/35}{\alpha_3}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{\rm SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{8}} \left(\frac{m_S(S_i)}{10^3 \text{ TeV}}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}} \left(\frac{10^{15} \text{ GeV}}{S_i}\right).$$
(3.14)

These two conditions on the coupling can be compatible with each other if

$$S_i > 10^{15} \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{1/35}{\alpha_3}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{\text{SM}}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{3}{8}} \left(\frac{m_S(S_i)}{10^3 \text{ TeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$
 (3.15)

A similar analysis for DFSZ-light will reveal the same condition but with α_3 replaced by α_2 . The violation of this condition is shown as the blue hatched region in figure 3, inside which the evaluation of Y_B is highly model-dependent and beyond the scope of this work.

In the purple shaded regions, extra cooling of supernovae cores by the emission of axions suppresses the neutrino emission, in contradiction with the observed neutrino spectrum from SN1987A [48–54]. The region below the purple dashed line is similarly excluded by saxion emission due to the coupling with gluons [71]. This can be avoided, however, by introducing a large coupling between the saxion and the Higgs so that saxions are trapped inside supernova cores. Such large couplings can be probed by observations of rare kaon decays at KLEVER [72, 73].

The rotation of P includes an angular motion and a radial motion. The energy density of the radial motion must be dissipated into radiation. In the blue shaded region, the dissipation causes problems. If the coupling with the SM particles is small, the saxion decays into axions and creates too much dark radiation compared to the experimental bound [59]. For larger couplings to the SM particles, the saxion is in thermal equilibrium with the SM bath, and a significant portion of its energy is dumped into electrons and photons after neutrinos decouples, leading to an excessively negative amount of dark radiation, which spoils Big Bang Nucleosynthesis (BBN) [74].

Axion dark matter, discussed in sections 3.3–3.4, can be obtained from parametric resonance or kinetic misalignment on the solid black lines of figure 3 but, in the case of parametric resonance, is constrained by warmness of DM as indicated by the dashed brown lines.

We require the explicit PQ symmetry breaking potential of (3.1) to preserve the PQ solution to the strong CP problem, leading to the solid pink contours labeled by n. The dashed pink lines labelled by n follow from vacuum requirements. For any given n, these constraints are satisfied by the area below the wedge formed by the corresponding solid and dashed lines, as detailed in section 3.5. In the orange hatched regions of figure 3, simple possibilities to thermalize the saxion oscillation fail, leading to saxion domination, as discussed in section 3.6.

In the lower panels of figure 3, we show the parameter space when some entropy production after the B - L asymmetry production leads to dilution by a factor D of Y_B and axion dark matter from Y_{PQ} . This dilution can result from a generic moduli field or thermalized saxions. The required initial field value S_i becomes larger correspondingly. The



Figure 3. Parameter space compatible with the observed baryon asymmetry for the quartic potential for $N_{\rm DW} = 1$. The upper panels assume a radiation-dominated universe throughout the evolution, while the lower panels include a dilution factor of D = 10 that can arise from late-time entropy production. Left (right) panels are for larger (smaller) $c_B \times \bar{m}^2$ as labeled. We fix $\epsilon = 0.125$, which affects the black and pink solid lines.

lower right panel belongs to the second case in eq. (3.12), i.e. $T_{\rm osc} > T_{\rm ss}$, with $\alpha_3 = 1/35$, while $T_{\rm osc} < T_{\rm ss}$ for the other three panels.

3.2.2 Rotation before the completion of reheating

If the reheat temperature after inflation T_R is small enough, P starts to rotate before reheating completes, $T_{\rm osc} \geq T_R$, when the universe is matter dominated. During the matter domination, we have the scaling laws for temperature $T \propto R^{-3/8}$ and for the Hubble scale $H \propto T^4$. Here we only consider the most extreme case $T_R < T_{\rm ss}$ to explore the lowest possible T_R ; investigation of all possible cases is beyond the scope of this paper. For $\bar{S} > f_a$, using eq. (2.20), one can show that $n_B/\rho_{\rm inf} \propto (T^{-13/3}, T^{-22/3})$ for $(T_R < T < T_{\rm ss}, T_{\rm ss} < T < T_L)$ respectively. Once $\bar{S} \simeq \sqrt{2}f_a$ at the temperature T_S , the potential is dominated by the quadratic term and the scaling changes to $n_B/\rho_{\rm inf} \propto (T, T^{-2})$, after which the production of the B - L asymmetry is negligible $(T_S < T_{\rm ss}$ in the parameter of interest). Therefore, the baryon asymmetry is produced dominantly at $T = \max(T_R, T_S)$,

$$S_0 \equiv 8 \times 10^{17} \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right) \left(\frac{g_{\text{SM}}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(\frac{m_S(S_i)}{6 \times 10^{13} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}} \left(\frac{10^9 \text{ GeV}}{T_R}\right)^{\frac{4}{3}},$$

where S_0 is the critical value of S_i below which S reaches $\sqrt{2}f_a$ after T_R .

In figure 4, we show the constraints on the parameter space for several reheat temperatures. Here $m_S(S_i)$ and S_i are constrained by eq. (3.16). Due to entropy production from the inflationary reheating, the required values of m_S and S_i are larger than in figure 3. The color scheme of various constraints is the same as in figure 3. The additional gray shaded region is excluded because of the large isocurvature perturbation of the baryon asymmetry. Since the B - L asymmetry is dominantly produced at $T = \max(T_R, T_S)$ long after the rotation begins, parametric resonance becomes effective and $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$ depends on ϵ . If saxion thermalization occurs before parametric resonance becomes effective, parametric resonance is avoided since the rotation becomes circular, but then $\dot{\theta}$ depends on ϵ after the thermalization. In both cases, the isocurvature perturbation comes from the fluctuation of ϵ ,

$$\frac{\delta Y_B}{Y_B} \simeq n \frac{H_{\text{inf}}}{2\pi S_i}.$$
(3.17)

To derive the constraints conservatively, we assume $H_{\text{inf}} = m_S(S_i)$. This is naturally the case if the saxion field during inflation is determined by a balance between the quartic potential and a negative Hubble induced mass $-H^2|P|^2$. We then obtain the upper bound $\lambda < 2 \times 10^{-5} (10/n)$, which is illustrated by the gray region in figure 4 using n = 10. The reheat temperature can be as small as a few times 10^9 GeV , which is comparable to the lower



Figure 4. Parameter space compatible with the observed baryon asymmetry for the quartic potential for $N_{\rm DW} = 1$. Here the production of Y_B is dominated during inflationary reheating with a different reheat temperature for each panel. Left (right) panels are for larger (smaller) $c_B \bar{m}^2$ as labeled. We fix $\epsilon = 0.125$, which affects the black and pink solid lines.

bound on T_R from successful thermal leptogenesis from right-handed neutrinos [36, 75, 76]. Importantly, in thermal leptogenesis, right-handed neutrinos are produced from the thermal bath so their mass must be no larger than T_R [77], while for lepto-axiogenesis right-handed neutrinos can be much heavier. As T_R is increased from the minimal value, the parameter space for lepto-axiogenesis rapidly opens up.

3.3 Axion dark matter from parametric resonance

In this subsection we consider the possibility that axions produced by parametric resonance explain the observed dark matter density. Since the axion couples to the saxion S, oscillations of the saxion field produce axions non-perturbatively through PR.

The production continues until the energy density of the axions becomes comparable to the saxion oscillations, at which point the back-reaction from the axions stops PR. For the quartic potential, this occurs around $\bar{S} \sim 10^{-2} S_i$ (or $10^{-4} S_i$) during a radiation (or a matter) dominated era [67–69].

The axions produced through parametric resonance are not necessarily cold at matter radiation equality and the parameter space is subject to warm dark matter constraints. Assuming the axion makes up all of the dark matter, the warm dark matter constraint requires [78, 79]

$$v_a|_{T=1eV} \equiv \frac{k_a|_{T=1eV}}{m_a} \lesssim 2 \times 10^{-4}.$$
 (3.18)

Cosmic 21-cm lines can probe $v_a|_{T=1eV} \gtrsim 10^{-5}$ [80]. After axions are produced, their number density and the momentum are approximately conserved up to cosmic expansion [81]. Since k_a^3 and the axion number density scale as $1/R^3$, their ratio remains invariant and is given by $n_a/k_a^3 = 1/(4\lambda^2)$. Replacing k_a with $(4\lambda^2 n_a)^{1/3}$ at T = 1 eV, requiring $Y_a \equiv n_a/s = Y_{a,\text{DM}}$ in eq. (2.10), and imposing the constraint in eq. (3.18), we obtain an upper bound on m_S ,

$$m_S \lesssim 80 \text{ MeV } N_{\text{DW}} \left(\frac{10^9 \text{ GeV}}{f_a}\right) \left(\frac{v_a|_{T=1\text{eV}}}{2 \times 10^{-4}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (3.19)

For larger masses, the PR axions are too warm, assuming they make up all of dark matter. This bound is satisfied by the solid black line in figure 3. Note that this constraint is generically applicable to axion dark matter produced by parametric resonance in a quartic potential, and is independent of the cosmological evolution, such as possible entropy production.

Assuming that no entropy is produced after PR occurs, the axion yield is given by²

$$Y_a \equiv \frac{n_a}{s} \simeq \frac{n_S(S_i)}{s} \simeq 60 N_{\rm DW}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{\rm SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{S_i}{10^{17} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{\text{GeV}}{m_S}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad (3.20)$$

where we have used $m_S(S_i) = \lambda S_i$ and $m_S(S_i) = 3H_{\text{osc}}$. Using eqs. (3.12), (2.10) and (3.20), axion dark matter by parametric resonance and the baryon asymmetry by lepto-axiogenesis require

$$m_{S} \simeq \begin{cases} 10 \text{ MeV} N_{\rm DW}^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{f_{a}}{10^{9} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{*}}{g_{\rm SM}}\right) \left(\frac{0.1}{c_{B}}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^{2}}{\bar{m}^{2}}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}} & \text{for } T_{\rm osc} < T_{\rm ss} \\ 250 \text{ MeV} N_{\rm DW}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{D}{10}\right) \left(\frac{f_{a}}{10^{9} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{*}}{g_{\rm SM}}\right)^{\frac{5}{2}} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_{B}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^{2}}{\bar{m}^{2}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{1/35}{\alpha_{3}}\right)^{\frac{15}{2}} & \cdot \\ & \text{for } T_{\rm osc} > T_{\rm ss} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.21)$$

²Note that eqs. (3.19) and (3.20) differ from ref. [31] due to our change of the estimation of n_s .

For $T_{\rm osc} > T_{\rm ss}$, since the baryon asymmetry is overproduced, we introduce a dilution factor D. The prediction for m_S is shown as the black solid lines in figure 3. Above (below) the black lines, axion dark matter is overproduced (underproduced) by parametric resonance. Therefore, while dark matter can only be explained by parametric resonance below the brown dot-dashed lines with small m_S and f_a , most of the parameter space is free from overproduction of dark matter– a major obstacle faced by the minimal theory of axiogenesis presented in [44].

Lyman- α constraints [82] analyzed by VHS [83] and SDSS [84, 85] surveys limit the fraction of warm dark matter to be $\mathcal{O}(30\%)$ and hot dark matter to be $\mathcal{O}(10\%)$. Below the brown dot-dashed line in figure 3 is the region where this constraint is satisfied i.e. $\rho_a/\rho_{\rm DM} \leq 0.1$, whereas the region above is ruled out if the PR axions are not successfully thermalized.

To avoid too warm and/or an excessive amount of axions from PR above the brown dot-dashed lines and black lines, it is required that the axion fluctuations from PR be thermalized when the saxion is thermalized [66]. This thermalization needs to occur before S is relaxed to f_a so that saxions and axions are sufficiently mixed with each other via the PQ symmetry restoration. Otherwise, the axion thermalization rate becomes suppressed by its momentum due to its derivative coupling when $S = N_{\rm DW} f_a$. This assumption is essential for the kinetic misalignment mechanism discussed below in section 3.4 to give enough dark matter in regions above the same black lines in figure 3.

3.4 Axion dark matter from kinetic misalignment

The kinetic misalignment mechanism can also produce axion dark matter. This contribution dominates when the axions produced by parametric resonance are thermalized. Using eq. (C.4), the axion dark matter abundance by kinetic misalignment is

$$Y_a = 2 \times \frac{4\epsilon}{N_{\rm DW}} \frac{n_S}{s} \simeq 10\epsilon N_{\rm DW}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{\rm SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{S_i}{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{\text{GeV}}{m_S}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} , \quad (3.22)$$

where ϵ is defined in eq. (3.6) and the factor of 2 is a deviation from the analytical estimation (see appendix C). Axion dark matter by kinetic misalignment and the baryon asymmetry by lepto-axiogenesis require

$$m_{S} \simeq \begin{cases} 10 \text{ MeV}_{N_{\text{DW}}^{-\frac{1}{4}}} \left(\frac{\epsilon}{0.125}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{f_{a}}{10^{9} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \left(\frac{g_{*}}{g_{\text{SM}}}\right) \left(\frac{0.1}{c_{B}}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^{2}}{\bar{m}^{2}}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}} & \text{for } T_{\text{osc}} < T_{\text{ss}} \end{cases} \\ 250 \text{ MeV}_{N_{\text{DW}}^{-1}} \left(\frac{\epsilon}{0.125}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{D}{10}\right) \left(\frac{f_{a}}{10^{9} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \left(\frac{g_{*}}{g_{\text{SM}}}\right)^{\frac{5}{2}} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_{B}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^{2}}{\bar{m}^{2}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{1/35}{\alpha_{3}}\right)^{\frac{15}{2}} & \text{for } T_{\text{osc}} > T_{\text{ss}}. \end{cases}$$
(3.23)

The black lines in figure 3 show the prediction for m_S , where the lower right panel is for the $T_{\rm osc} > T_{\rm ss}$ case. Kinetic misalignment can explain axion dark matter in the regions above

the black lines by smaller ϵ . In addition, the produced axions are cold and not subject to the warmness constraint.

Lastly, on the horizontal gray lines in figures 3 and 4, the observed dark matter abundance is explained by the conventional misalignment mechanism in the regions where kinetic misalignment is inefficient, i.e., larger f_a . Due to non-thermal PQ symmetry restoration by parametric resonance, the misalignment angle θ_i is randomized and averaged to $\pi/\sqrt{3}$. Axion emission from cosmic strings gives similar amount of axions [86–93]. In the lower panels of figure 3, the gray lines are unaffected despite the dilution factor D = 10 because entropy production is assumed to occur before the axion oscillations near the QCD phase transition. If entropy is produced after instead, the gray line will be shifted upward by a factor of $\simeq 7 (D/10)^{6/7}$.

In figure 4, the black lines also represent the axion dark matter contribution from KMM (for $\epsilon = 0.125$) and PR. It is evident that this constraint is irrelevant in the case of rotation during inflationary reheating and we thus do not present the derivations of the formulae.

3.5 Constraints on explicit PQ symmetry breaking

To achieve rotations with a parameter $\epsilon \simeq 3V'_{PQ}/V'_{PQ}$ from eq. (D.6), the required coupling A is

$$A \simeq \frac{2^{n/2} \lambda^2 \epsilon}{6n} \frac{M^{n-3}}{S_i^{n-4}} \,, \tag{3.24}$$

whose exact form is given in eq. (D.6) for a radiation-dominated universe. The axion mass given by the explicit PQ symmetry breaking V_{PQ} is

$$\Delta m_a^2 \simeq \frac{2n^2}{2^{n/2}} \frac{A N_{\rm DW}^{n-2} f_a^{n-2}}{M^{n-3}} \simeq \frac{\lambda^2 n \epsilon}{3} \frac{N_{\rm DW}^{n-2} f_a^{n-2}}{S_i^{n-4}}.$$
(3.25)

To obey the experimental bound on the neutron electric dipole moment [94–96], we require

$$\Delta m_a^2 < 10^{-10} m_a^2. \tag{3.26}$$

For a given (m_S, f_a) , we fix S_i to reproduce the observed baryon asymmetry, and then obtain a lower bound on n from eq. (3.26). The contours of the lower bound are shown as pink solid lines in figures 3 and 4 for the labeled values of n.

It is required that $\epsilon < 1$; otherwise, the angular direction will start oscillating before the radial mode and get trapped into a false vacuum at a large field value created by V_{PQ} . Therefore, we impose

$$S_i < \sqrt{2} \left(\frac{2\lambda^2}{3n} \frac{M^{n-3}}{A}\right)^{\frac{1}{n-4}}$$
 (3.27)

The contours of the lower bound on S_i are shown as pink dashed lines in figures 3 and 4 with $A = M = 4\pi M_{\rm Pl}$ and the labeled values of n. The constraint is mildly relaxed if $A \ll M$.

3.6 Saxion thermalization

We first consider the case where the rotations begin during a radiation dominated era. In order to avoid entropy production from saxion domination we need the saxion to thermalize before it dominates the energy density at T_M . In the quartic potential the saxion field value evolves as $S \propto T$ until $S \sim \sqrt{2} f_a N_{\text{DW}}$ at temperature T_S which can be written as

$$T_S \simeq 20 \text{ TeV} N_{\rm DW}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{m_S}{10 \text{ MeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}{S_i}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.28)

After T_S the saxion potential is dominated by the quadratic term and saxion field value scales $S \propto T^{3/2}$. The temperature at which saxion enters matter domination is given by

$$T_M \simeq 200 \text{ MeV } N_{\rm DW}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{m_S}{10 \text{ MeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{S_i}{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (3.29)

The saxion can thermalize by scattering with gluons, non-KSVZ fermions, or through its couplings with the Higgs boson. In the case where the KSVZ quarks are heavier than the temperature of the universe when the saxion begins oscillating, as is the case for KSVZheavy, they stay heavier since $S \propto T$ for quartic potential. In this case the saxion can thermalize by scattering with gluons. The thermalization rate for $T \geq T_S$ is given by [97– 99]

$$\Gamma_g = bN_{\rm DW}^2 \frac{T^3}{S^2(T)},\tag{3.30}$$

where $b \simeq 10^{-2} \alpha_3^2 \simeq 10^{-5}$. Once $S \simeq N_{\rm DW} f_a$, $\Gamma_g = bT^3/f_a^2$ which drops faster than the Hubble scale. Thus, gluons can only thermalize before T_S . Requiring that $\Gamma_g > 3H(T_S)$ from gluon scattering we obtain

$$f_a \lesssim 4 \times 10^9 \text{ GeV} N_{\rm DW}^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(\frac{g_{SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{m_S}{10 \text{ MeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(\frac{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}{S_i}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$
 (3.31)

Thermalization through gluons is not sufficient to thermalize the saxion in most of the parameter space of interest in figure 3. In the absence of thermalization through gluons, the saxion can thermalize via its coupling to the Higgs or a non-KSVZ fermion. We will begin by discussing constraints that arise from coupling to the non-KSVZ fermions.

The saxion-fermion coupling can be written as $zP\psi\psi$ and the thermalization rate is

$$\Gamma_{\psi} \simeq b_{\psi} z^2 T, \qquad (3.32)$$

where $b_{\psi} \simeq 0.1$. In order to avoid entropy production by the saxion, the saxion needs to be thermalized at $T_{\rm th} > T_M$. Once the saxion settles at its minimum, the fermion mass remains constant at $zN_{\rm DW}f_a$ while the temperature keeps decreasing. This implies $T_{\rm th} > \max[T_M, zN_{\rm DW}f_a]$. However, z cannot be arbitrarily large. The quantum correction to the quartic coupling of P coming from z needs to be less than λ^2 , giving $z \leq (16\pi^2\lambda^2)^{1/4}$. The thermal corrections from non-KSVZ fermions to the saxion mass should also be smaller than the saxion mass at the beginning of oscillations. This gives $z \lesssim \lambda S_i/T_{\rm osc}$. We also require the mass of the fermion to be lower than the temperature at the beginning of oscillations, so that fermions are in the thermal bath at thermalization $z \lesssim T_{\rm osc}/S_i$. Imposing the above constraints, we find that the fermion scattering can thermalize the saxion for $f_a \lesssim 10^{10}$ GeV.

Once the temperature drops below the mass of the fermion, the number density of the fermion is Boltzmann-suppressed and the thermalized saxions decouple from the thermal bath. If there is no subsequent thermalization, the saxion decays into axions and produce dark radiation with an amount given by

$$\Delta N_{\rm eff} \simeq 0.25 \left(\frac{10 \text{ MeV}}{m_S}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{f_a}{10^8 \text{ GeV}}\right) \left(\frac{g_{\rm SM}}{g_*(T_{\rm D})}\right) \left(\frac{10.75}{g_*(T_{\rm dec})}\right)^{\frac{1}{12}}, \qquad (3.33)$$

where $g_*(T_{\rm D})$ and $g_*(T_{\rm dec})$ are the effective degrees of freedom when the saxions decouple and decay respectively. The present upper bound is $\Delta N_{\rm eff} < 0.3$ [59], and future observations of the cosmic microwave background can probe $\Delta N_{\rm eff} > 0.02$ [100, 101]. $f_a > 10^8 \text{ GeV}(m_S/10 \text{ MeV})^{1/2}$ is excluded, but this constraint can be avoided if the saxion couples to the Higgs and keeps thermalized until the temperature drops below m_S .

We next consider the coupling of the saxion to Higgs bosons, $\xi^2 S^2 H^{\dagger} H$. The Higgs can thermalize the saxion via scatterings $S H \to H Z/W$ with a rate given by

$$\Gamma_{\rm th,H} = \alpha_2(T)\xi^4 \frac{(S(T) + N_{\rm DW} f_a)^2}{T},$$
(3.34)

where $S(T) = S_i(T/T_{osc})$. During radiation domination, $\Gamma_{th,H}(T)/H(T)$ always increases as temperature decreases, and hence thermalization is IR-dominated. If we demand that the Higgs mass from the field value of P does not exceed the observed Higgs mass at the vacuum, i.e. $\xi N_{\text{DW}} f_a < m_{H,0}$, we find that in most of the parameter space of interest in figure 3, the saxion cannot be thermalized. Hence, we consider the case where the Higgs mass is fine-tuned to give the observed value,

$$m_{H,0}^2 = -m^2 + \xi^2 f_a^2, \quad \xi^2 N_{\rm DW}^2 f_a^2, m^2 \gg m_{H,0}^2.$$
 (3.35)

We find that, after taking into account the constraints outlined below, in most of the parameter space thermalization happens at $T < T_S$, the temperature where S reaches $\sqrt{2}N_{\text{DW}}f_a$. We thus set $S = N_{\text{DW}}f_a$ in the following. Typically the saxion-Higgs mixing is parameterized by a mixing angle θ_{SH} given by

$$\theta_{SH} \simeq 2\sqrt{2}\xi^2 \frac{N_{\rm DW} f_a v}{m_{H,0}^2} \simeq 3 \times 10^{-5} N_{\rm DW} \left(\frac{\xi}{10^{-6}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right).$$
(3.36)

In order to avoid entropy production, thermalization needs to occur before saxion domination at temperature T_M , giving the lower bound

$$\xi \gtrsim 7 \times 10^{-10} N_{\rm DW}^{\frac{3}{8}} \left(\frac{1/40}{\alpha_2}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{g_{SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{16}} \left(\frac{10 \text{ MeV}}{m_S}\right)^{\frac{3}{8}} \left(\frac{10^9 \text{ GeV}}{f_a}\right)^{\frac{1}{8}} \left(\frac{S_i}{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{9}{8}}.$$
(3.37)

We also need $T_{\rm th} > m_{H,0}$, since for lower $T_{\rm th}$ the Higgs will not be present in the thermal bath. Other lower bounds on ξ come from the BBN, which requires its lifetime to be shorter than one second if the saxion decays primarily through the Higgs portal, and from the saxion emission from supernova cores which requires large enough coupling to trap the saxion inside the cores [50, 102–104]. However, ξ cannot be arbitrarily large. For $T < T_S$, $S(T) \simeq \sqrt{2}N_{\rm DW}f_a(T/T_S)^{3/2}$ and the Higgs mass is $m_H^2(T) \simeq 2\xi^2 N_{\rm DW}^2 f_a S(T)$. For Higgs thermalization to be efficient we need $m_H(T_{\rm th}) < T_{\rm th}$,

$$\xi \lesssim 3 \times 10^{-5} N_{\rm DW}^{-\frac{11}{16}} \left(\frac{\alpha_2}{1/40}\right)^{\frac{1}{8}} \left(\frac{g_{SM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{11}{32}} \left(\frac{m_S}{10 \text{ MeV}}\right)^{\frac{9}{16}} \left(\frac{10^9 \text{ GeV}}{f_a}\right)^{\frac{11}{16}} \left(\frac{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}{S_i}\right)^{\frac{9}{16}}.$$
(3.38)

Other upper bounds on the saxion-Higgs mixing come from the branching ratio for $K \rightarrow (\pi + \text{invisible})$ [105] and from LHCb constraints on visible decays of B mesons through a scalar mediator [106, 107]. We require that corrections to the quartic coupling from ξ are smaller than λ^2 i.e. $\xi \leq (16\pi^2\lambda^2)^{1/4}$. We also require the thermal corrections to the mass of the saxion at the beginning of saxion oscillations to be lower than the zero-temperature saxion mass, giving $\xi \leq \lambda S_i/T_{\text{osc}}$. Comparing the upper and lower bounds on ξ , we obtain the region that cannot be successfully thermalized through the saxion-Higgs coupling. A summary of the astrophysical and experimental constraints we use in terms of the mixing angle θ_{SH} can be found in ref. [73].

Combining the constraints from the gluons, fermions, and Higgs thermalization processes mentioned in this section, we can determine the region where the saxion is not thermalized before dominating the energy density. This is shown by the orange hatched region in figure 3, which shows that most of the parameter space is consistent with the assumption of a radiation-dominated universe. The jagged nature of the lines shown in figure 3 comes from satisfying the LHCb and $K \rightarrow (\pi + \text{invisible})$ constraints.

Some of the parameter space in figure 3 is excluded by the brown dot-dashed lines because of the hot axions produced by PR. The bound can be evaded if the PR axions are thermalized. For this the thermalization must occur at $T > T_S$, since for $T < T_S$, where the PQ symmetry is broken, the axion direction is derivatively coupled to the thermal bath and the thermalization rate is suppressed. For $T > T_S$, the saxion and the axion mix with each other and thermalization of saxions automatically lead to that of axions. As we have seen, thermalization through the Higgs and fermions occurs predominantly when $T_{\rm th} < T_S$ and does not allow for the axion to thermalize. A thermalization process more efficient than considered thus far is needed to allow for KMM dark matter to the left of the PR warmness constraint. However, we do not pursue this direction further.

For the case where the rotation begins before the completion of reheating after inflation, since the amplitude of the rotation of P is much smaller than the case discussed above, possible thermalization rates are larger. Also, since the quartic coupling of P is larger, upper bound on the thermalization rate from the quantum correction to the quartic coupling is relaxed. As a result, the thermalization is more effective than the case discussed above.

3.7 Domain wall problem

PR grows the fluctuations, leading to the restoration of the PQ symmetry and randomization of the field values [67, 68, 108–111]. Once the amplitude of the fluctuations becomes smaller than f_a by the cosmic expansion, the PQ symmetry is broken again. Domain walls are produced around the QCD phase transition. If the domain walls are stable, they eventually dominate the energy density of the universe. Avoiding the problem requires one of the following:

- 1. Domain wall number is unity so that the domain walls are unstable [112].
- 2. *P* thermalizes before the magnitude of the fluctuations become as large as the amplitude of the rotation. The rotation then becomes circular and PR no longer occurs.
- 3. Explicit PQ symmetry breaking lets the domain walls decay early enough [112].

The option 2 requires the coupling of P to particles in the thermal bath to be strong enough. We find that in the allowed parameter region in figure 3, such a strong coupling generates too large λ by radiative corrections.

In the option 3, domain walls decay into axions. To make this axion population less abundant than the observed DM abundance requires the decay to occur early enough by a large amount of explicit PQ symmetry breaking. The large PQ symmetry breaking spoils the axion solution to the strong CP problem unless $f_a < 3 - 8 \times 10^8$ GeV, depending on the domain wall number [87, 113–115]. The constraint is relaxed by a factor of few by diluting the axions produced from the domain walls [116].

4 Supersymmetric models

For efficient lepto-axiogenesis, the saxion oscillations after inflation must start from a large initial field value, requiring a flat saxion potential. A flat potential is natural in supersymmetric theories, where the saxion is the scalar superpartner of the axion; the saxion potential is essentially flat in the supersymmetric limit.

For example, spontaneous PQ symmetry breaking can be induced by running of the soft mass of the field P [117],

$$V_{\rm PQ}(P) = m_S^2 |P|^2 \left(\ln \frac{2|P|^2}{f_a^2 N_{\rm DW}^2} - 1 \right).$$
(4.1)

The curvature of the saxion potential is given by the supersymmetry breaking soft mass m_S , and the potential is sufficiently flat for a low enough scale of supersymmetry breaking. Alternatively, in a two-field model with soft masses,

$$W = X(P\bar{P} - V_{PQ}^2), \quad V_{\text{soft}} = m_P^2 |P|^2 + m_{\bar{P}}^2 |\bar{P}|^2, \tag{4.2}$$

the stabilizer field X fixes the PQ symmetry breaking fields P and \bar{P} on the moduli space $P\bar{P} = V_{PQ}^2$, and the moduli space is lifted by the soft masses. For $P \gg V_{PQ}$ or $\bar{P} \gg V_{PQ}$, the potential of the saxion is dominated by the soft masses m_P and $m_{\bar{P}}$, respectively.

Motivated by the above two examples, we consider the case where the saxion potential is well approximated by a quadratic term $m_S^2 |P|^2$ at large field values. In this case, the rotation of P is initiated in the same manner as the rotation of the squark and slepton fields in the Affleck-Dine baryogenesis scheme [33, 64, 65].

4.1 Rotation in a nearly quadratic potential

In supersymmetric theories, scalar fields in general obtain squared masses proportional to H^2 , called Hubble-induced masses. We assume that in the early universe, P obtains a negative Hubble-induced mass,

$$V(P) = -c_H H^2 |P|^2, (4.3)$$

where c_H is an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ positive constant. This negative Hubble-induced mass drives the saxion to a large field value. Although lepto-axiogenesis works for generic origins of a large field value, this origin simplifies the discussion of the dynamics of P as we will see.

We assume that the PQ symmetry is explicitly broken by a superpotential term

$$W = \frac{1}{n} \frac{P^n}{M^{n-3}} \,. \tag{4.4}$$

The F-term potential given by this superpotential stabilizes the saxion against the negative Hubble-induced mass term. The supersymmetry breaking A-term potential associated with the PQ breaking superpotential (4.4) is

$$V_{PQ} = A \frac{P^n}{M^{n-3}} + \text{h.c.},$$
 (4.5)

and drives the angular motion of P. (The superpotential term alone does not do this, since a linear combination of the R symmetry and the PQ symmetry remains unbroken without the A term). Under these conditions, the entire potential is

$$V(P) = (m_S^2 - c_H H^2)|P|^2 + \left(A\frac{P^n}{M^{n-3}} + \text{h.c.}\right) + \frac{|P|^{2n-2}}{M^{2n-6}}.$$
(4.6)

After inflation, for $3H > m_S$ the saxion tracks the time-dependent minimum of the potential given by [65, 118]

$$S(H) \simeq \left(HM^{n-3}\right)^{\frac{1}{n-2}} \left(\frac{2^{n-2}}{n-1}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n-4}},\tag{4.7}$$

where we take $c_H \sim 1.^3$

When the Hubble scale becomes comparable to m_S , $3H_{\text{osc}} \equiv m_S$ and $S_i \equiv S(H_{\text{osc}})$, P starts to oscillate. The A term drives the angular motion. Subsequently, as \bar{S} decreases by redshifting, explicit PQ symmetry breaking becomes negligible and the PQ asymmetry is

³Even if the Hubble induced mass term becomes negligible at some point, as is the case during radiation dominated eras [119–121], S still follows the value around eq. (4.7) because of the balance between Hubble friction and the potential gradient.

conserved. Following the definitions in eq. (3.6), we parameterize the PQ charge asymmetry by a parameter $\epsilon \leq 1$ and obtain

$$n_{\rm PQ} = \frac{\epsilon}{N_{\rm DW}} m_S S_{\rm max}^2 \simeq 2 \frac{\epsilon}{N_{\rm DW}} n_S, \qquad n_S \simeq \frac{1}{2} m_S S_{\rm max}^2, \tag{4.8}$$

for $\epsilon \ll 1$. The typical size of ϵ is given by

$$\epsilon \simeq \frac{A}{m_S}.\tag{4.9}$$

A detailed estimation of ϵ is given in appendix D. Here we assume that the initial phase of P is not accidentally aligned with the minimum of the potential given by the A-term. If the soft supersymmetry breaking terms of S are dominantly given by gravity mediation, $A \sim m_S$, and hence $\epsilon = \mathcal{O}(1)$; in other schemes ϵ can be small. The time-average of $\dot{\theta}$ is approximately $N_{\rm DW}m_S$, as in eq. (3.9), and nearly independent of ϵ . If parametric resonance becomes effective and randomizes the field value of P, $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$ depends on ϵ and is given by $\epsilon N_{\rm DW}m_S$, as in eq. (3.11).

Once the PQ symmetry breaking field P starts to rotate and oscillate, it evolves in the following way. The energy density of P redshifts as matter (R^{-3}) and, likewise, n_{PQ} redshifts in the same manner due to conservation of PQ charge. $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$ remains constant as long as $S \gg N_{\rm DW} f_a$. Since we are taking large initial field values, there is the possibility that the saxion could end up dominating the energy density of the universe over the radiation bath. Therefore, in the next subsection we study two scenarios: in the first, saxions are thermalized before they dominate, while, in the second, there is a period of saxion domination before thermalization with consequent dilution of the baryon asymmetry and axion dark matter. After thermalization of the P field, the orbit becomes circular with the energy density of the radial motion transferred into the thermal bath. After thermalization, the energy density of the circular rotation ρ_{θ} decreases as matter (R^{-3}) until S drops to $N_{\rm DW} f_a$, when a period of kination ensues with ρ_{θ} redshifting as R^{-6} . Notice that the kination era due to the axion rotation is conceptually different from the known scenarios [122-124] where a scalar field rolls down the potential, while in our case the axion revolves around it. An early period of kination era could leave a distinctive imprints, and possible experimental signals, in a wide range of different cosmological phenomena compared to the standard cosmology: from modifying the relic abundance of DM [125-128], increasing the signal of primordial gravitational waves [129-132], to boosting the matter power spectrum, enhancing small-scale structure formation [133, 134].

4.2 Baryon asymmetry

The baryon asymmetry Y_B generated at temperature T from the rotation of P is always proportional to $\dot{\theta}/T$. With a quadratic potential we have shown that there are periods when $\dot{\theta}(T)$ is constant, whereas with a quartic potential $\dot{\theta}(T)$ always falls. Hence, relative to the quartic case, baryogenesis with a quadratic potential is dominated more by lower temperatures. Even if P starts to oscillate early, the baryon asymmetry is dominantly produced at $T < T_{ss}$ where the strong sphaleron transition is in thermal equilibrium. The baryon number produced per unit Hubble time is generically given by

$$\Delta n_B \simeq c_B \,\dot{\theta} T^2 \,\frac{\Gamma_L}{H}.\tag{4.10}$$

We first consider the case where the saxion is thermalized before it dominates the universe, so that no entropy is produced after the onset of the rotation. Due to PQ charge conservation, the energy density associated with the rotation of P can dominate even after the saxion is thermalized without subsequently producing entropy, as explained in section 4.1 and appendix F. We define S_M as the saxion field value at the beginning of this matter-like domination. Similarly, S_{ss} is the field values of the saxion at T_{ss} . We find

$$Y_B \simeq \frac{n_B}{s} \simeq c_B \frac{\theta T^2}{s} \frac{\Gamma_L}{H} \ln\left(\frac{t_2}{t_1}\right)$$

$$(4.11)$$

$$\approx 10^{-10} N_{\rm ever} \left(\frac{c_B}{s}\right) \left(g_{\rm MSSM}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(-\bar{m}^2\right) \left(-m_S\right) \ln\left(-\min\left(S_i, S_{\rm ss}\right)\right)$$

$$\simeq 10^{-10} N_{\rm DW} \left(\frac{c_B}{0.1}\right) \left(\frac{g_{\rm MSSM}}{g_*}\right)^{\overline{2}} \left(\frac{\overline{m}^2}{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}\right) \left(\frac{m_S}{600 \text{ TeV}}\right) \ln \left(\frac{\min\left(S_i, S_{\rm ss}\right)}{\max\left(N_{\rm DW} f_a, S_M\right)}\right),$$

where we assume a radiation dominated era with $g_{\text{MSSM}} = 228.75$. Here the logarithmic dependence appears because \dot{n}_B in eq. (2.15) is inversely proportional to time when the universe is radiation-dominated, $\dot{\theta}$ is constant $(S > N_{\text{DW}}f_a)$, and $T < T_{\text{ss}}$. Here t_1 and t_2 denote the initial and final times of this period, whereas $\ln(t_2/t_1) = 4\ln(S(t_1)/S(t_2))/3$ with $S(t_1) = \min[S_i, S_{\text{ss}}]$ and $S(t_2) = \max[N_{\text{DW}}f_a, S_M]$, where S_M is the average vev of the radial mode when saxion matter domination begins. The observed baryon asymmetry is explained for

$$m_S \simeq 30 \text{ TeV } N_{\rm DW}^{-1} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right) \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\rm MSSM}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right) \left(\frac{17}{\ln\left(\frac{\min(S_i, S_{\rm ss})}{\max(N_{\rm DW}f_a, S_M)}\right)}\right).$$
 (4.12)

This value of m_S gives $T_{\rm EW} < T_{\rm osc} < T_{\rm ss}$. We find $\min(S_i, S_{\rm ss}) = S_i$ provided $m_S \leq 6 \times 10^9 \text{ GeV}(20\alpha_3)^{10} (g_{\rm SM}/g_*)^{1/2}$. Eqs. (4.11) and (4.12) are valid if $S_{\rm ss} > N_{\rm DW} f_a$, for which we need $S_i > N_{\rm DW} f_a (m_S/6 \times 10^9 \text{ GeV})^{3/4} (g_*/g_{\rm SM})^{3/8} (20\alpha_3)^{15/2}$, and this is easily satisfied.

Remarkably, the order of magnitude of m_S , the scale of supersymmetry breaking, is determined to be of order 30 TeV by the observed baryon asymmetry and neutrino masses. The dependence on the neutrino spectrum, $N_{\rm DW}$, and the parameters inside the log is mild. In particular, m_S cannot be of order the TeV scale unless $N_{\rm DW} \sim (30, 300)$ for neutrino masses with (near degeneracy, a normal hierarchy).

The blue contours in figure 5 show the values of m_S required to explain the observed baryon asymmetry. Relevant for the determination of Y_B using eq. (4.11), min $(S_i, S_{ss}) = S_i$ throughout the parameter space of interest as noted above, while above the gray dotted lines, we have $S_M > N_{\text{DW}} f_a$, in which case Y_B and thus m_S become independent of f_a . The purple region is the same as in figure 3, while other constraints will be discussed in the following subsections.

We now consider an era of saxion domination. From the scaling laws presented in appendix F and summarized in table 2, one can see that the baryon asymmetry is dominantly produced around the beginning of the matter dominated era or at the end of reheating.⁴ At

⁴After the saxion is thermalized at $T_{\rm th}$, an era dominated by the rotation labeled as $\rm MD_A^{rot}$ in appendix F is present unless ϵ is sufficiently small. However, we expect $\epsilon \simeq A/m_S \simeq 1$ for gravity mediation and thus do not consider small ϵ here.



Figure 5. Parameter space compatible with the observed baryon asymmetry for nearly quadratic potentials in the case without entropy production for $N_{\rm DW} = 1$. Values of m_S that yield the observed baryon asymmetry are shown by blue contours. Axions account for the observed dark matter via either parametric resonance or kinetic misalignment along the black solid line, while only kinetic misalignment is viable along the black dashed line. We fix $\epsilon = 0.25$, which affects the black (both solid and dashed) and pink solid lines.

both temperatures, $\Delta n_B/s$ are of the same order, but the former contribution experiences entropy production by the PQ symmetry breaking field. Thus, the production is actually dominated at $T_{\rm th}$. The baryon asymmetry is given by

$$Y_B \simeq \left. \frac{c_B \dot{\theta} T^2}{s} \frac{\Gamma_L}{H} \right|_{T=T_{\rm th}} \simeq 10^{-10} N_{\rm DW} \left(\frac{c_B}{0.1} \right) \left(\frac{\bar{m}^2}{0.03 \text{ eV}^2} \right) \left(\frac{m_S}{800 \text{ TeV}} \right), \tag{4.13}$$

which is valid as long as $S_{\rm th}$, the saxion field value at thermalization, is still larger than $N_{\rm DW} f_a$. It is remarkable that the cases of thermalization during radiation and matter domination lead to such similar results for Y_B ; the only essential difference between (4.11) and (4.13) is that the latter lacks the logarithm. The absence of this logarithm implies that, unlike with radiation domination, Y_B is completely independent of the initial field value of the saxion, giving a sharp prediction for m_S from the observed baryon asymmetry

$$m_S \simeq 700 \text{ TeV} N_{\rm DW}^{-1} \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\rm MSSM}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right) \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right).$$
 (4.14)

In the unshaded region of figure 6, the observed baryon asymmetry is explained with a uniquely-determined m_S in eq. (4.14) shown at the top of each panel along with the values of c_B and \bar{m}^2 . Above the orange hatched region, we have $S_M > N_{\rm DW} f_a$ so $S_{\rm th} < S_M$ can be larger than $N_{\rm DW} f_a$ to be consistent with the assumptions made in eq. (4.13). Inside the orange hatched, the observed baryon asymmetry can in principle be explained but the analysis becomes model-dependent due to different scaling behaviors shown in table 2 for



Figure 6. Parameter space compatible with the observed baryon asymmetry for nearly quadratic potentials in the case with entropy production from saxion domination for $N_{\rm DW} = 1$. Values of m_S that yield the observed baryon asymmetry are shown at top. We fix $\epsilon = 0.25$, which affects the black (both solid and dotted) and pink lines.

different saxion thermalization channels. The purple and green regions are the same as in figure 3, while other constraints and contours will be discussed in the following subsections.

Remarkably, for the cases considered in figures 5 and 6, the baryon asymmetry is proportional to the mass of the PQ symmetry breaking field, and requires $m_S = \mathcal{O}(10 - 10^4)$ TeV. Such a large scalar mass is consistent with the scenario of high scale supersymmetry breaking [135–142], which has the following features:

- The observed Higgs mass is explained by quantum correction from stops [143–146].
- Because of anomaly mediated contribution to the gaugino mass [135, 147–150], singlet SUSY breaking fields are not required. The Polonyi problem [151] is absent.
- With anomaly mediated gaugino masses, the wino is the light supersymmetric particle (LSP) with a mass around the TeV scale. The thermal freeze-out abundance of the wino can explain the observed dark matter abundance [152, 153].
- Gravitinos decay before BBN and there is no serious gravitino problem [4, 154–156].
- Due to the large squark and slepton masses, the SUSY flavor/CP problems are solved.

We next consider the case where the universe is inflaton-dominated when the PQ symmetry breaking field begins rotation. As long as there is a period when the universe is radiation-dominated and $S > N_{\text{DW}}f_a$, the baryon asymmetry is given by eq. (4.13). This is possible when reheating completes early enough, i.e.,

$$T_R > 4 \times 10^7 \text{ GeV} \times N_{\rm DW}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{\rm MSSM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{m_S}{10^6 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{10^{17} \text{ GeV}}{S_i}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (4.15)

Lower reheat temperatures may still explain the observed baryon asymmetry but require a different evaluation of Y_B and we do not pursue this further.

We comment on the LSP production from gravitinos. If the reheat temperature of the universe is large, gravitinos are abundantly produced at reheating and later decay to LSPs. Avoiding too much stable LSP dark matter then requires [157, 158]

$$T_{\rm R} < 2 \times 10^9 \,\,{\rm GeV}\left(\frac{m_{\rm LSP}}{{
m TeV}}\right).$$

$$(4.16)$$

This bound is violated if the rotation begins during a radiation-dominated era, requiring R-parity violation or entropy production from the saxion. If the rotation begins during a matter dominated era, since T_R may be as low as 10^7 GeV, the bound can be satisfied.

4.3 Axion dark matter from parametric resonance

As described in section 3.3, the oscillations of the saxion field produce axions nonperturbatively through parametric resonance. For the quadratic potential with a logarithmic correction in eq. (4.1) this happens for $\epsilon \leq 0.5$. For the theory with the superpotential and the soft masses in eq. (4.2) with $\epsilon = \mathcal{O}(0.1 - 1)$, PR is ineffective unless $\bar{S} \leq 100 f_a$. See appendix G. We thus consider the potential in eq. (4.1) in this subsection.

The time at which PR becomes effective can be written as $t_{\rm PR} \equiv N_{\rm PR}/m_S$ where we find $N_{\rm PR} \simeq \mathcal{O}(10^3)$ from a numerical calculation in appendix G. Assuming radiation domination during PR and no further entropy production, e.g. from saxion domination, the axion yield is given by

$$Y_a \equiv \frac{n_a}{s} \simeq \frac{n_S(S_i)}{s} \simeq 20 \left(\frac{g_{\rm MSSM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{S_i}{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{100 \text{ TeV}}{m_S}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (4.17)

If the axions produced by PR do not thermalize and contribute to more than $\mathcal{O}(10)\%$ of DM, they are subject to warm DM constraints.

When the PR axions explain the entire DM, using n_a/k_a^3 as a red-shift invariant quantity, we obtain the warm dark matter bound,

$$S_i \lesssim 8 \times 10^{15} \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\text{MSSM}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{6}} \left(\frac{0.1}{k_a/m_S}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{10^3}{N_{\text{PR}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{v_a|_{T=1\text{eV}}}{2 \times 10^{-4}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (4.18)

This constraint is satisfied by the solid black line in figure 5. For the parameter space that does not satisfy eq. (4.18), the observed dark matter abundance can be explained by kinetic misalignment discussed in the next subsection on the black dashed lines, as long as the axions from parametric resonance are thermalized.

In order to obtain both the correct baryon and DM densities, the initial field value is required to be

$$S_{i} \simeq 10^{16} \text{ GeV } N_{\text{DW}}^{-\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{g_{*}}{g_{\text{MSSM}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_{B}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^{2}}{\bar{m}^{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{f_{a}}{10^{9} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \begin{cases} \left(\frac{20}{-\log(\xi_{3}) + \log(-\log(\xi_{3}))}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} & \text{for } S_{M} > N_{\text{DW}} f_{a} \\ \left(\frac{65}{\log(\xi_{4}) - \log(\log(\xi_{4}))}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} & \text{for } S_{M} < N_{\text{DW}} f_{a} \end{cases}$$
(4.19)

where

$$\xi_1 = 4 \times 10^{-8} N_{\rm DW}^{-1} \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\rm MSSM}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right) \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right) \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right)^2 \tag{4.20}$$

$$\xi_2 = 2 \times 10^{30} N_{\rm DW}^{-5} \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\rm MSSM}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right) \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right) \left(\frac{10^9 \text{ GeV}}{f_a}\right)^2 \,. \tag{4.21}$$

The logarithmic dependence on $\xi_{1,2}$ reflects the weak dependence of the predicted saxion mass on f_a , shown in eq. (4.12).

If the saxion thermalizes at a temperature $T_{\rm th}$ after saxion domination, assuming no further entropy production, the axion yield is given by

$$Y_a \simeq \frac{3}{4} \frac{T_{\rm th}}{m_S}.\tag{4.22}$$

However, in this paper, when the saxion dominates, we consider the case where the saxion is thermalized when $\overline{S} > f_a$, so that the estimation in eq. (4.13) is valid. Since the PQ symmetry breaking field P is not at the minimum of the potential, the saxion and the axion mix with each other, and hence the saxion thermalization necessarily leads to the thermalization of the PR axions. The KMM mechanism explained below dominates.

4.4 Axion dark matter from kinetic misalignment

KMM can produce the observed DM abundance regardless of the thermalization of the P field. In a radiation dominated universe, the axion dark matter abundance from KMM is given by

$$Y_a = 2 \times \frac{2\epsilon}{N_{\rm DW}} \frac{n_S}{s} \simeq 100 \frac{\epsilon}{N_{\rm DW}} \left(\frac{g_{\rm MSSM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{S_i}{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{100 \text{ TeV}}{m_S}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (4.23)

Therefore, we explain axion dark matter by kinetic misalignment and the baryon asymmetry by lepto-axiogenesis if the initial field value of the saxion is

$$S_{i} \simeq 10^{16} \text{ GeV} N_{\text{DW}}^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{0.25}{\epsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{*}}{g_{\text{MSSM}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_{B}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^{2}}{\bar{m}^{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{f_{a}}{10^{9} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ \times \begin{cases} \left(\frac{20}{-\log(\xi_{3}) + \log(-\log(\xi_{3}))}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} & \text{for } S_{M} > N_{\text{DW}} f_{a} \\ \left(\frac{65}{\log(\xi_{4}) - \log(\log(\xi_{4}))}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} & \text{for } S_{M} < N_{\text{DW}} f_{a} \end{cases}$$
(4.24)

where

$$\xi_{3} = 4 \times 10^{-8} N_{\rm DW} \left(\frac{0.25}{\epsilon}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{g_{*}}{g_{\rm MSSM}}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_{B}}\right) \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^{2}}{\bar{m}^{2}}\right) \left(\frac{f_{a}}{10^{9} \text{ GeV}}\right)^{2}$$
(4.25)

$$\xi_4 = 2 \times 10^{30} N_{\rm DW}^{-3} \left(\frac{0.25}{\epsilon}\right)^2 \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\rm MSSM}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right) \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right) \left(\frac{10^9 \text{ GeV}}{f_a}\right)^2 \,. \tag{4.26}$$

The logarithmic dependence on $\xi_{3,4}$ reflects the weak dependence of the predicted saxion mass on f_a , shown in eq. (4.12). These required values of S_i as a function of f_a are shown by the black line in figure 5.

On the other hand, if the saxion thermalizes at a temperature $T_{\rm th}$ after saxion domination, assuming no further entropy production, the axion yield is given by

$$Y_a = 2 \times \frac{2\epsilon}{N_{\rm DW}} \frac{n_S}{s} = \frac{4\epsilon}{N_{\rm DW}} \frac{3T_{\rm th}}{4m_S}, \qquad (4.27)$$

where the first factor of 2 is explained in appendix C, while the second is from eq. (4.8). The required thermalization temperature to obtain the correct dark matter abundance is

$$T_{\rm th} \simeq 7 \times 10^7 \,\,\mathrm{GeV} N_{\rm DW} \left(\frac{0.25}{\epsilon}\right) \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \,\,\mathrm{GeV}}\right) \left(\frac{m_S}{700 \,\,\mathrm{TeV}}\right)$$
$$\simeq 7 \times 10^7 \,\,\mathrm{GeV} \left(\frac{0.25}{\epsilon}\right) \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \,\,\mathrm{GeV}}\right) \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\rm MSSM}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right) \left(\frac{0.03 \,\,\mathrm{eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right) \,, \qquad (4.28)$$

where in the second line we have used the prediction on m_S in eq. (4.14) to obtain the observed baryon asymmetry from lepto-axiogenesis. The required thermalization temperature is shown in figure 6 by the black dashed lines. As we discuss in section 4.6, it is difficult to achieve the required $T_{\rm th}$ for large f_a , and the KMM underproduces axion DM. The vertical black dotted line shows the upper bound on f_a .

The saxion dominates the energy density of the universe at the temperature

$$T_M \simeq 2 \times 10^6 \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{g_{\text{MSSM}}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{m_S}{50 \text{ TeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{S_i}{10^{16} \text{ GeV}}\right)^2.$$
 (4.29)

We impose $T_M > T_{\text{th}}$ so that the saxion actually dominates the energy density of the universe before it thermalizes. From eqs. (4.28) and (4.29), the condition translates into a lower bound on S_i ,

$$S_i \gtrsim 3 \times 10^{16} \text{ GeV} N_{\text{DW}}^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{0.25}{\epsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\text{MSSM}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}},$$
(4.30)

as shown by the sloped part of the black dotted lines in figure 6, below which the minimum thermalization temperature consistent with the assumption of saxion domination, $T_{\rm th} = T_M$, is too small to reproduce axion dark matter from kinetic misalignment. However, the conventional misalignment mechanism explains axion dark matter at $f_a \simeq 10^{11}$ GeV, denoted by the vertical gray lines in figures 5 and 6, and excludes higher f_a due to overproduction.

4.5 Constraints on explicit PQ symmetry breaking

As in section 3.5, the explicit PQ-breaking potential may shift the axion vacuum to give too large of a neutron electric dipole moment. The contribution to the mass of the axion from the A-term PQ breaking potential is

$$\Delta m_a^2 \simeq \frac{n\epsilon \, m_S^2}{3} \left(\frac{N_{\rm DW} f_a}{S_i}\right)^{n-2} \,, \tag{4.31}$$

where we made use of eq. (D.8). We require Δm_a^2 to satisfy the bound in eq. (3.26).

Similar to eq. (3.27), we require $\epsilon < 1$ to avoid large curvature in the phase direction that traps the saxion in one of the minima of the A-term potential, preventing, or substantially damping, rotations of P. Since $\epsilon \simeq A/m_S$ from eq. (D.8), $\epsilon < 1$ is automatically satisfied for the natural scenario where $A \leq m_S$, which is true as long as m_S is not accidentally small.

4.6 Saxion thermalization

Just as in the case of the quartic potential described in section 3.6, the saxion in the quadratic potential can also thermalize through gluons or fermions. The coupling with the Higgs exists in DFSZ models, but since we find that the scattering with gluons or fermions can be efficient enough, we do not consider Higgs here. To prevent entropy production, as assumed in eq. (4.11) and figure 5, the saxion needs to thermalize while the universe is still in radiation domination, i.e., $T_{\rm th} > T_M$ with T_M given by eq. (4.29).

We first consider scattering through gluons with a rate given by eq. (3.30). Since Γ_g decreases faster than Hubble for $T < T_S$, successful thermalization by gluons is possible only at $T > \max[T_M, T_S]$. Using values of m_S determined by Y_B in eq. (4.11), gluons successfully thermalize saxions before matter domination if

$$S_{i} \lesssim \begin{cases} 10^{16} \text{ GeV } N_{\text{DW}}^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{b}{10^{-5}}\right)^{\frac{1}{6}} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_{B}}\right)^{\frac{1}{12}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^{2}}{\bar{m}^{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{12}} \\ \times \left(\frac{62}{-\log(\xi_{5}) + \log(-\log(\xi_{5}))}\right)^{\frac{1}{12}} \\ 4 \times 10^{16} \text{ GeV } N_{\text{DW}}^{\frac{1}{4}} \left(\frac{b}{10^{-5}}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{10^{9} \text{ GeV}}{f_{a}}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_{B}}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^{2}}{\bar{m}^{2}}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}} \\ \times \left(\frac{23}{\log(\xi_{6}) - \log(\log(\xi_{6}))}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}}, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.32)$$

where the first (second) case is for $S_M > f_a$ ($S_M < f_a$) respectively and

$$\xi_5 = 6 \times 10^{-26} N_{\rm DW}^{-1} \left(\frac{b}{10^{-5}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right) \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right)$$
(4.33)

$$\xi_6 = 3 \times 10^{11} N_{\rm DW}^{-7/3} \left(\frac{b}{10^{-5}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{10^9 \text{ GeV}}{f_a}\right)^4 \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right) \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right).$$
(4.34)

This shows that gluons thermalize the saxion in some but not all of the relevant parameter space in figure 5. Therefore, we continue to explore more efficient thermalization processes.

Thermalization can also proceed through fermions, which couple to the saxion through $W = zS\psi\bar{\psi}$; the thermalization rate by the scalar part of ψ is smaller. The thermalization rate by the fermions is given by $\Gamma_{\psi} = b_{\psi}z^2T$ with $b_{\psi} \simeq 0.1$. To be consistent with the assumption that the saxion begins oscillation by the zero-temperature mass, we require that $zS_i > T_{\rm osc}$. This condition is easily satisfied for large S_i . We may instead assume that $zT_{\rm osc} < m_S$, but this leads to less efficient thermalization.

The fermions need to be in the thermal bath by $T_{\rm th}$, implying $z \leq T_{\rm th}/S(T_{\rm th})$. With this condition, the scattering rate for any $T_{\rm th} \geq T_M$ is at the most

$$\Gamma_{\psi} = b_{\psi} \frac{T_{\rm th}^3}{S^2(T_{\rm th})} = b_{\psi} \frac{T_{\rm osc}^3}{S_i^2}.$$
(4.35)

This maximal rate takes the same form as that of the gluon scattering in eq. (3.30) but is four orders of magnitude larger with $b_{\psi} \simeq 0.1$. The constraint $T_{\rm th} \geq T_M$ is given by eq. (4.32) with b replaced by b_{ψ} .

The first case of eq. (4.32) with b set to $b_{\psi} = 0.1$ leads to the orange hatched region in figure 5. The second case of eq. (4.32) is obtained from the requirement $T_{\rm th} > T_S$, which is a condition stronger than necessary ($T_{\rm th} > T_M$ with $T_M < T_S$) but already shows the irrelevance of the constraint. The mass $m_{\psi} = zf_a$ must be above the TeV (100 GeV) scale for colored (uncolored) ψ , which can be satisfied in the parameter space in figure 5.

In figure 6, it is assumed that the saxion thermalizes after matter domination. In this case, even though the baryon asymmetry is independent of the thermalization temperature as discussed around eq. (4.13), the DM density depends on the thermalization temperature as shown in eqs. (4.22) and (4.27). To explain the thermalization temperature necessary for dark matter, we consider thermalization by the fermion scattering from $W = zP\psi\bar{\psi}$ with a rate given by $\Gamma_{\psi} = b_{\psi}z^2T$.⁵ The required $T_{\rm th}$ in eq. (4.28) is obtained for

$$z = 7 \times 10^{-5} N_{\rm DW}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{0.1}{b_{\psi}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{0.25}{\epsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\rm MSSM}}\right) \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(4.36)

Several constraints on z are in order. We require that $N_{\rm DW}f_a \leq S_{\rm th} \leq S_M$ to be consistent with eq. (4.13), giving lower and upper bounds. An upper bound on z arises from requiring the fermions to be in the thermal equilibrium at $T_{\rm th}$, i.e., $zS_{\rm th} < T_{\rm th}$. Collider bounds on the fermion mass requires $zf_a \gtrsim \text{TeV}$ (100 GeV) scale for colored (uncolored) ψ . An earlier assumption that the saxion oscillates because of the vacuum mass rather than the thermal mass requires that $zT_{\rm osc} < m_S$ or $zS_i \ge T_{\rm osc}$ so that the thermal mass is small or the fermions are not in the thermal bath when oscillations begin. We find that these constraints are satisfied in the parameter space enclosed by the black dotted lines in figure 6. The lower edge was previously discussed in eq. (4.30) and the right edge is set by the condition $zS_{\rm th} < T_{\rm th}$. Therefore, an appropriate choice of z will allow $T_{\rm th}$ to take the values required for dark matter shown in figure 6.

4.7 Domain wall problem

For the rotation in the logarithmic potential (4.1) with $\epsilon = \mathcal{O}(1)$, the growth rate of the fluctuations is about $10^{-2}m_S$. The amplitude of the fluctuations becomes as large as \bar{S}

⁵Since the baryon asymmetry is dominantly produced at $T_{\rm th}$, to be consistent with the assumption of KSVZ-heavy, $\psi\bar{\psi}$ should not be the KSVZ quark. We may still identify $\psi\bar{\psi}$ with the KSVZ quark and instead consider KSVZ-light. As long as the transfer of the charge asymmetry of P into ψ is effective, eq. (4.13) is applicable.

when $H \sim 10^{-3} m_S$, restoring the PQ symmetry. The PQ symmetry is broken again once $\bar{S} < f_a$. Unless the domain wall number is unity, stable domain walls are produced around the QCD phase transition. This is avoided if the thermalization of P occurs before the amplitude of the fluctuation becomes as large as \bar{S} . This is because, after thermalization, the rotation is circular and parametric resonance is absent. This is possible if

$$S_i \lesssim 8 \times 10^{14} \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{b}{0.1}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{\text{MSSM}}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{3}{8}} \left(\frac{m_S}{10^5 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$
 (4.37)

For the rotation in the potential (4.2) with $\epsilon = \mathcal{O}(1)$, parametric resonance does not occur for $\bar{S} \gtrsim 10^2 f_a$. Once $\bar{S} \lesssim 10^2 f_a$, a resonant band appears and parametric resonance quickly grows the fluctuations to be as large as \overline{S} . If the field value becomes random, this leads to the formation of domain walls. Since the PQ symmetry is not restored, those domain walls do not have boundaries and are stable even if the domain wall number is unity. Ref. [159]investigates if the field value becomes random by a lattice computation for $\epsilon = 0$, and finds that the field value does not become random for $S_i < 10^3 f_a$ because the gradient term tries to homogenize the field value. Although ref. [159] could not continue the computation to $S_i > 10^3 f_a$, parametric resonance for $S_i < 10^3 f_a$ is already strong enough to make the fluctuations as large so \overline{S} , so it is expected that their result holds for $S_i > 10^3 f_a$. Our case is different from theirs since we have $\epsilon \neq 0$. Although parametric resonance is weaker for $\epsilon \neq 0$, the rotating background may make it easier for the angular direction to be randomized. Also, if kinetic misalignment occurs, the axion starts oscillations from near the hilltop. Even small fluctuations may set the axion to fall into different minima, producing domain walls. We thus provide a condition such that thermalization occurs before parametric resonance becomes effective so that the domain wall problem is for sure avoided. The PQ symmetry breaking field is thermalized before saxion domination and before \bar{S} reaches $10^2 f_a$ if

$$S_i \lesssim 9 \times 10^{14} \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{b}{0.1}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{g_{\text{MSSM}}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{9}{8}} \left(\frac{m_S}{10^5 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{3}{4}} \left(\frac{10^{11} \text{ GeV}}{f_a}\right)^2,$$
(4.38)

which applies when $S_M < 10^2 f_a$. The constraint becomes irrelevant when $S_M > 10^2 f_a$ in the parameter space in figure 5 so the constraint is not explicitly written here. If the saxion instead dominates before thermalization occurs, the constraint from thermalization before \bar{S} reaches $10^2 f_a$ is

$$f_a \lesssim 10^{11} \text{ GeV}\left(\frac{b}{0.1}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}} \left(\frac{m_S}{10^5 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}},$$
 (4.39)

which is not stringent in figure 6. Since we assume $T_M > T_{\rm th}$ in figure 6 and now impose $S(T_{\rm th}) > 10^2 f_a$, the region consistent with both of these conditions, i.e., $S_M > 10^2 f_a$, is above the boundary obtained from rescaling the orange boundary, corresponding to $S_M > f_a$, up in S_i by a factor of $10^{1/2} \simeq 3$.

4.8 Oscillation by a thermal mass and TeV scale SUSY

So far we consider the case where the PQ symmetry breaking field P rotates in a zerotemperature potential, and find that a large saxion mass ≥ 10 TeV is required. There may be an era where P rotates in a thermal potential with a mass larger than the zero-temperature mass, so that a lower saxion mass ~ TeV is consistent with lepto-axiogenesis.

Let us, for example, consider a coupling between P and $Q\bar{Q}$, $W = y_Q P Q \bar{Q}$. If $y_Q S_i$ is smaller than the temperature, $Q\bar{Q}$ is in the thermal bath and gives a thermal mass term $y_Q^2 T^2 |P|^2$. This initiates the oscillations of P if

$$y_Q > 8 \times 10^{-8} \left(\frac{m_S}{1 \text{ TeV}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\text{MSSM}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$$
 (4.40)

at a temperature

$$T_{\rm osc} = 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ GeV}\left(\frac{y_Q}{10^{-6}}\right) \left(\frac{g_{\rm MSSM}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
 (4.41)

with an initial thermal mass

$$m_{T,i} = y_Q T_{\text{osc}} = 10^5 \text{ GeV} \left(\frac{y_Q}{10^{-6}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{g_{\text{MSSM}}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (4.42)

The thermal mass decreases in proportion to R^{-1} , so the B - L asymmetry is dominantly produced at the beginning of the rotation. To explain the observed baryon asymmetry, the initial thermal mass must be as large as in eq. (4.14), which requires

$$y_Q = 2 \times 10^{-6} \times N_{\rm DW}^{-1/2} \left(\frac{g_*}{g_{\rm MSSM}}\right) \left(\frac{0.1}{c_B}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\frac{0.03 \text{ eV}^2}{\bar{m}^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (4.43)

The parameter ϵ is suppressed since $A \sim m_S \ll m_{T,i}$,

$$\epsilon \simeq 10^{-3} \left(\frac{m_S}{1 \text{ TeV}}\right) \left(\frac{2 \times 10^{-6}}{y_Q}\right)^2. \tag{4.44}$$

In order for the estimation of the baryon asymmetry to be correct, the asymmetry of P charge must be efficiently transferred into $Q\bar{Q}$ asymmetry. The transfer rate is $y_Q^2|P|^2/T$. For this case, as is shown in appendix E, the transfer must be efficient when P is closest to the origin where $S \sim \epsilon S_i$, because this is when the contribution to $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$ is dominated. This is impossible since 1) $S \sim \epsilon S_i$ only for a short time scale $\epsilon/m_{T,i}$ and 2) the transfer rate $\sim y_Q^2 m_Q^2/T_{\rm osc}$ is suppressed by small ϵ when $S \sim \epsilon S_i$. The observed baryon asymmetry cannot be reproduced because of those suppressions. Increasing $m_{T,i}$ seems to solve the problem by compensating the suppression with a larger $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$, but that makes ϵ even smaller and suppresses the baryon asymmetry.

To remedy this difficulty, we may add a larger coupling to another pair of fields $y_{\psi}P\psi\bar{\psi}$. If $y_{\psi}S_i > T_{\rm osc}$, $\psi\bar{\psi}$ are not in the thermal bath and do not give a thermal mass to P. A possible thermal log potential [70] does not initiate the oscillation if $S_i \gtrsim 10^{16}$ GeV. This term can, however, be effective in transferring the asymmetry of P into that of $\psi\bar{\psi}$. We require that $\psi\bar{\psi}$ are in the thermal bath when S passes nearest to the origin, $y_{\psi}\epsilon S_i < T_{\rm osc}$. Once this condition is satisfied, when P passes near the origin, the potential of P is dominated by the thermal potential generated by $\psi \bar{\psi}$. Then from charge and energy conservation, the minimum S and the maximum $\dot{\theta}$ during the rotation are given by

$$S_{\min} \simeq \epsilon S_i \times \frac{m_{T,i} S_i}{T_{osc}^2},$$

$$\dot{\theta}_{\max} \simeq \frac{m_{T,i}}{\epsilon} \times \frac{T_{osc}^4}{m_{T,i}^2 S_i^2}.$$
 (4.45)

We have $\dot{\theta} \sim \dot{\theta}_{\text{max}}$ when $S \sim S_{\text{min}}$ for a time scale $\dot{\theta}_{\text{max}}^{-1}$. An efficient transfer of the P asymmetry into $\psi \bar{\psi}$ asymmetry requires $0.1(y_{\psi}S_{\min})^2/T_{\text{osc}} > \dot{\theta}_{\max}$. The bounds on y_{ψ} are summarized as

$$y_{\psi} > 6 \times 10^{-4} \times \left(\frac{1 \text{ TeV}}{m_S}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\frac{y_Q}{2 \times 10^{-6}}\right)^{\frac{9}{2}} \left(\frac{10^{17} \text{ GeV}}{S_i}\right)^3 \left(\frac{g_{\text{MSSM}}}{g_*}\right)^{\frac{9}{4}}$$
$$y_{\psi} < 2 \times 10^{-3} \times \left(\frac{1 \text{ TeV}}{m_S}\right) \left(\frac{y_Q}{2 \times 10^{-6}}\right)^3 \left(\frac{10^{17} \text{ GeV}}{S_i}\right) \left(\frac{g_{\text{MSSM}}}{g_*}\right).$$
(4.46)

The asymmetry of $\psi \bar{\psi}$ needs to be transferred into n_{ℓ,H_u} . This can be done by the sphaleron processes and/or a direct coupling between ψ or $\bar{\psi}$ with MSSM fields. Unlike the |P|dependent transfer rate, the rate of these transfers only has to be larger than H in order for the time-average of n_{ℓ,H_u} to reach $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle T^2$.

From eqs. (4.41) and (4.43), one can see that the reheat temperature after inflation must be above 10^{11} GeV. If the gravitino mass is also $\mathcal{O}(1)$ TeV, the late-time decay of the gravitinos produced around reheating is excluded by BBN. The gravitino mass must be above the 100 TeV scale, which requires sequestering [147]. *R*-parity violation is also required to avoid the LSP overproduction from the gravitinos.

5 Conclusions and discussion

In this paper, we introduced and studied the generation of the baryon asymmetry of the universe from rotation of the PQ symmetry breaking field and the dimension-five interaction $\ell\ell H^{\dagger}H^{\dagger}-$ a mechanism we call lepto-axiogenesis. The rotation of the PQ symmetry breaking field corresponds to the charge asymmetry of P, which is transferred into the asymmetry of the Higgs boson H and/or the lepton chirality through Yukawa couplings and the electroweak sphalerons. These asymmetries are transferred via the dimension-five interaction, into a lepton asymmetry, which is transferred into a baryon asymmetry through the electroweak sphaleron process. The schematic diagram in figure 2 shows the possible routes of the asymmetries.

The rotation of the PQ symmetry breaking field is driven by a mechanism analogous to the Affleck-Dine mechanism. If the radial direction of the PQ symmetry breaking field, the saxion, takes a large field value in the early universe, explicit PQ symmetry breaking by a higher-dimensional operator may be effective, driving the rotation. The rotation also produces QCD axion dark matter through parametric resonance and/or kinetic misalignment for $f_a \sim 10^{10}$ GeV. The conventional misalignment mechanism and the axion emission from strings and domain walls explains QCD axion dark matter for $f_a \sim 10^{11}$ GeV. The contribution from parametric resonance may be warm enough to affect structure formation in the universe at an observable level. Larger f_a requires entropy production after the QCD phase transition.

We investigated quartic and quadratic potentials of the PQ symmetry breaking field, and found that the observed baryon asymmetry can be produced by lepto-axiogenesis without producing too much QCD axion dark matter, a major obstacle faced by axiogenesis.

In the case of a quartic potential, Y_B is proportional to $M_{\rm Pl}^2 \Sigma m_{\nu}^2 / v_{\rm EW}^4$ and also to a power of $m_S(Si)/M_{\rm Pl}$. The latter gives sensitivity to UV physics; nevertheless various constraints on the scheme narrow the allowed ranges of f_a and m_S as shown in figures 3 and 4. Even with these constraints, baryogenesis is successful in the large unshaded regions; however, successful cogenesis of the axion dark matter abundance greatly limits the parameter space.

Figure 3 assumes a large enough reheat temperature such that the rotation begins during a radiation dominated era. When the axions produced by parametric resonance are not thermalized and remain as (a part of) dark matter, warmness constraints exclude the region above the brown dashed lines. The observed dark matter abundance is explained by parametric resonance or kinetic misalignment mechanism on the black lines. The former is allowed only on the solid black lines because of the warmness constraints. Most of the solid black line is excluded by the constraint from the saxion emission at supernovae, which can be evaded by the mixing between the saxion and the Higgs which traps the saxion inside the supernova cores. Such a large mixing can be probed by rare decays of kaons.

The rotation of the PQ symmetry breaking field also involves a radial motion, which should be thermalized to avoid the over-closure by the radial mode. We investigated possible thermalization processes and found that thermalization can successfully occur. If the saxion couples to SM particles only through gauge bosons, the thermalized saxion dominantly decays into axions, producing dark radiation with an amount shown in eq. (3.33). If the saxion couples to the Higgs, the amount of the dark radiation is suppressed.

Figure 4 assumes a low reheat temperature such that the rotation begins before the completion of inflationary reheating. A reheat temperature as low as 10^9 GeV is compatible with lepto-axiogenesis. The abundance of the QCD axions produced by parametric resonance and kinetic misalignment is too small, and $f_a \sim 10^{11}$ GeV is required to explain the observed dark matter abundance by the QCD axion.

The model with a quadratic potential is realized in supersymmetric theories. The constraints on the parameter space are summarized in figures 5 and 6. Again, baryogenesis is successful over a wide range of f_a and for $S_i \sim 10^{15} - 10^{18}$ GeV. Simultaneous production of axion dark matter via parametric resonance or kinetic misalignment occurs for lower values of f_a , or via conventional misalignment and the axion emission from strings and domain walls for $f_a \sim 10^{11}$ GeV.

Since the angular velocity, $\dot{\theta}$, is constant in time, the baryon asymmetry produced per Hubble time is independent of temperature during radiation dominated eras. As a result, the baryon asymmetry is not sensitive to the cosmological evolution such as reheating, and is essentially determined by the mass of the PQ symmetry breaking field and hence by the soft mass scale. Indeed, the parametric behavior of the baryon asymmetry is given by

$$Y_B \sim \left(\frac{m_S M_{\rm Pl} \,\Sigma m_{\nu}^2}{v_{\rm EW}^4}\right),\tag{5.1}$$

demonstrating insensitivity to initial conditions and the details of UV physics. The observed baryon asymmetry is reproduced if the soft mass scale is $\mathcal{O}(10 - 10^4)$ TeV, where the range reflects the difference in the numerical coefficient in eq. (5.1) for saxion thermalization in the radiation and matter dominated eras. This naturally fits into scenarios with high scale supersymmetry, a well-motivated framework to address the observed Higgs mass, the Polonyi problem, the gravitino problem, and the SUSY flavor/CP problems. Alternatively, we have shown that, if extra fermions are coupled to P, axion rotations may occur in a thermal potential, allowing m_S to be decreased to the TeV scale. It is remarkable that, even though the baryon asymmetry is generated at a very high temperature, in minimal models the result depends only on parameters associated with much lower energies; contrasting, for example, with grand unification, leptogenesis and Affleck-Dine schemes.

Note added. While finalizing our manuscript, an interesting paper appeared on the arXiv [160]. This has an overlap with our paper as it discusses the production of B - L asymmetry from a non-zero velocity of a generic axion field and the dimension-five interaction. However, there is no further overlap as the physical setup they present is for a very heavy oscillating axion rather than a circulating QCD axion initiated by a higher-dimensional operator. Although they compute the baryon asymmetry arising from a constant $\dot{\theta}/T$, the physical origin is not specified and they do not view it as realistic. As we have seen in this paper, initiation of the velocity by a higher-dimensional operator involves rich physics such as dominant production of the baryon asymmetry at a low temperature much after the dimension-five interaction freezes out, kinetic misalignment, parametric resonance, thermalization of the radial mode, domain wall production, and oscillations or even rapid changes of $\dot{\theta}$ as discussed in appendix E.

Acknowledgments

The work was supported in part by the DoE Early Career Grant DE-SC0019225 (R.C.) and DE-SC0017840 (N.F), the DoE grants DE-AC02-05CH11231 (L.H.) and DE-SC0009988 (K.H.), the NSF grant NSF-1915314 (L.H.), NSF CAREER grant PHY-1915852 (A.G.) as well as the Raymond and Beverly Sackler Foundation Fund (K.H.).

A Models of lepto-axiogenesis

The UV completion of the QCD axion model requires new particles charged under the PQ symmetry, such as heavy quarks in KSVZ models [60, 61] or two Higgs doublets in DFSZ models [62, 63]. In lepto-axiogenesis, the transfer of the PQ asymmetry into that of B - L can be both qualitatively and quantitatively different depending on whether these new states are in thermal equilibrium. We discuss the case of heavy KSVZ quarks in KSVZ-heavy in section 2.2 and the other three possibilities below.

KSVZ-light. KSVZ model with light quarks.

When the KSVZ quarks Q are in the thermal bath, the asymmetry of P is first translated into the chiral asymmetry of Q with a rate $\alpha_3 m_Q (f_{\text{eff}})^2/T$, where $m_Q (f_{\text{eff}})$ is the mass of Q. The chiral asymmetry of Q is then translated into the quark and/or lepton chiral asymmetries via strong and electroweak sphaleron transitions. The B-L asymmetry produced by the neutrino mass interaction per Hubble time is

$$\Delta n_{B-L} = \frac{\Gamma_L}{H} \times c_{B-L} \dot{\theta} T^2 \times \min\left(1, \frac{\Gamma_{\rm ss}}{H}\right) \times \min\left(1, \frac{\alpha_3 y_t^2 T}{H}\right) \times \min\left(1, \frac{\alpha_3 m_Q (f_{\rm eff})^2 / T}{H}\right). \tag{A.1}$$

When the production of the chiral asymmetry of Q is efficient, the last factor is unity, so that the production of B - L asymmetry is also efficient, as in the case KSVZ-heavy with Q heavy, so that (A.1) reduces to (2.20).

With Q light, B - L production does not necessarily need the strong sphaleron transition. If the quarks Q have the same gauge quantum numbers as the Standard Model fermions, direct couplings between Q and the SM fermions and Higgs can transfer their asymmetries. For example, if $Q = U, \overline{U}$ with \overline{U} having the same gauge interactions as the right-handed up quark, we may introduce

$$\mathcal{L} = y_U H^{\dagger} q \bar{U} \quad \text{or} \quad m_{U\bar{u}} \ U \bar{u}, \tag{A.2}$$

where q is the quark doublet, and \bar{u} is the singlet up quark. Then the chiral asymmetry of U, \bar{U} is converted into the asymmetry of q and H or \bar{u} with a rate $\alpha_3 y_U^2 T$ or $\alpha_3 m_{U\bar{u}}^2 / T$. These asymmetries then create the B-L asymmetry via SM interactions and the Majorana neutrino mass operator. The B-L asymmetry produced per Hubble time via this flow is

$$\Delta n_{B-L} = \frac{\Gamma_L}{H} \times c_{B-L} \dot{\theta} T^2 \times \min\left(1, \frac{\alpha_3 m_Q (f_{\text{eff}})^2 T}{H}\right) \times \begin{cases} \min\left(1, \frac{\alpha_3 y_U^2 T}{H}\right) \\ \min\left(1, \frac{\alpha_3 m_U^2 \overline{u}/T}{H}\right) \end{cases}$$
(A.3)

The production in eq. (A.1) is also present.

DFSZ-light. DFSZ model with light Higgses.

We next consider the DFSZ model with two Higgs doublets H_u and H_d , whose vacuum expectation values give masses to up-type and down-type quarks, respectively. The PQ breaking field is coupled to these Higgs bosons by an interaction $P^m H_u H_d$.

We first assume that the masses of H_u and H_d are smaller than the temperature. Then the PQ charge asymmetry is transferred into those of H_u and H_d with a rate $\alpha_2(B\mu)^2/T^3$, where $B\mu$ is the quadratic term $B\mu H_u H_d$ given by the PQ symmetry breaking field. In supersymmetric theory, the PQ charge asymmetry is more efficiently transferred into the chiral asymmetry of Higgsinos \tilde{H}_u and \tilde{H}_d with a rate $\alpha_2\mu^2/T$. The chiral asymmetry of H_u or \tilde{H}_u is transferred into the B - L asymmetry by $\ell \ell H_u^{\dagger} H_u^{\dagger}$. The B - L asymmetry produced per Hubble time is

$$\Delta n_{B-L} = \frac{\Gamma_L}{H} \times c_{B-L} \dot{\theta} T^2 \times \begin{cases} \min\left(1, \frac{\alpha_2 \left(B\mu \left(f_{\text{eff}}\right)\right)^2 / T^3}{H}\right) &: \text{non-SUSY} \\ \min\left(1, \frac{\alpha_2 \left(\mu \left(f_{\text{eff}}\right)\right)^2 / T}{H}\right) &: \text{SUSY} \end{cases}$$
(A.4)

Note that neither the strong sphaleron nor the Standard Model Yukawa interactions are necessary. If the production of the Higgs asymmetry is in thermal equilibrium, the production of n_{B-L} is as efficient as the case KSVZ-heavy so that (A.4) reduces to (2.20), with both strong sphaleron and Yukawa processes taken in thermal equilibrium.

DFSZ-heavy. DFSZ model with heavy Higgses.

When the PQ symmetry breaking field P gives a mass to H_uH_d that is larger than the temperature, they are no longer in the thermal bath and the scattering by $\ell\ell H_u^{\dagger}H_u^{\dagger}$ is ineffective. The B - L asymmetry can be still produced via the operators $\ell\ell(Q^{\dagger}\bar{u}^{\dagger})^2$ and $\ell\ell(Q\bar{d})^2$ which arises after integrating out H_u and H_d .

Depending on the couplings between $H_{u,d}$ and P, large field values for $H_{u,d}$ may develop in the early universe. Then $H_{u,d}$ also rotate as P rotates. If the neutrino Majorana mass during this era $\langle H_u \rangle^2 / M$ is smaller than T, a B - L asymmetry is created directly from the rotating phase of H_u via the operator $\ell \ell H_u^{\dagger} H_u^{\dagger} / M$.

B Boltzmann equations

In this appendix, we show the Boltzmann equations for the particle-antiparticle asymmetry $n_X - n_{\bar{X}}$, which we simply denote as n_X . For an illustration, we consider only one generation in the Standard Model and the result is similar for three generations.

The Yukawa interactions and the neutrino mass operator are

$$\mathcal{L} = y_u H^{\dagger} q \bar{u} + y_d H q \bar{d} + y_e H \ell \bar{e} + \frac{1}{M} \ell_i \ell_j H^{\dagger} H^{\dagger}.$$
(B.1)

The Boltzmann equations for the asymmetries are given by

$$\begin{split} \dot{n}_{q} &= \alpha_{3} y_{u}^{2} T \left(-\frac{n_{q}}{6} - \frac{n_{\bar{u}}}{3} + \frac{n_{H}}{4} \right) + \alpha_{3} y_{d}^{2} T \left(-\frac{n_{q}}{6} - \frac{n_{\bar{d}}}{3} - \frac{n_{H}}{4} \right) \\ &+ 3 \Gamma_{\rm ws} \left(-n_{q} - n_{\ell} - \frac{c_{W}}{3} \dot{\theta} T^{2} \right) + 2 \Gamma_{\rm ss} \left(-n_{q} - n_{\bar{u}} - n_{\bar{d}} - \frac{1}{2} \dot{\theta} T^{2} \right), \\ \dot{n}_{\bar{u}} &= \alpha_{3} y_{u}^{2} T \left(-\frac{n_{q}}{6} - \frac{n_{\bar{u}}}{3} + \frac{n_{H}}{4} \right) + \Gamma_{\rm ss} \left(-n_{q} - n_{\bar{u}} - n_{\bar{d}} - \frac{1}{2} \dot{\theta} T^{2} \right), \\ \dot{n}_{\bar{d}} &= \alpha_{3} y_{d}^{2} T \left(-\frac{n_{q}}{6} - \frac{n_{\bar{d}}}{3} - \frac{n_{H}}{4} \right) + \Gamma_{\rm ss} \left(-n_{q} - n_{\bar{u}} - n_{\bar{d}} - \frac{1}{2} \dot{\theta} T^{2} \right), \end{split}$$
(B.2)
$$\dot{n}_{\ell} &= \alpha_{2} y_{e}^{2} T \left(-\frac{n_{\ell}}{2} - n_{\bar{e}} - \frac{n_{H}}{4} \right) + \Gamma_{\rm ws} \left(-n_{q} - n_{\ell} - \frac{c_{W}}{3} \dot{\theta} T^{2} \right) + 2 \Gamma_{L} \left(-\frac{n_{\ell}}{2} + \frac{n_{H}}{4} \right), \\ \dot{n}_{\bar{e}} &= \alpha_{2} y_{e}^{2} T \left(-\frac{n_{\ell}}{2} - n_{\bar{e}} - \frac{n_{H}}{4} \right), \end{split}$$

$$\dot{n}_{H} = -\alpha_{3}y_{u}^{2}T\left(-\frac{n_{q}}{6} - \frac{n_{\bar{u}}}{3} + \frac{n_{H}}{4}\right) + \alpha_{3}y_{d}^{2}T\left(-\frac{n_{q}}{6} - \frac{n_{\bar{d}}}{3} - \frac{n_{H}}{4}\right) + \alpha_{2}y_{e}^{2}T\left(-\frac{n_{\ell}}{2} - n_{\bar{e}} - \frac{n_{H}}{4}\right) - 2\Gamma_{L}\left(-\frac{n_{\ell}}{2} + \frac{n_{H}}{4}\right), \dot{n}_{PQ} = \Gamma_{ss}\left(-n_{q} - n_{\bar{u}} - n_{\bar{d}} - \frac{1}{2}\dot{\theta}T^{2}\right) + c_{W}\Gamma_{ws}\left(-n_{q} - n_{\ell} - \frac{c_{W}}{3}\dot{\theta}T^{2}\right)$$

If all interactions are in thermal equilibrium, by taking $\dot{n}_i = 0$ except for n_{PQ} and imposing the hypercharge conservation, we find the equilibrium B - L number density

$$n_{B-L}^{\rm eq} = \begin{cases} \frac{7 - 4c_W}{26} \dot{\theta} T^2 & y_d^2 \ll y_u^2 \\ \frac{-1 - 4c_W}{26} \dot{\theta} T^2 & y_u^2 \ll y_d^2 \end{cases}$$
(B.3)

At low temperatures, the lepton number violating interaction Γ_L is out of thermal equilibrium. The production of B-L can be obtained by considering Γ_L as a perturbation as in eq. (2.16). After imposing the hypercharge and the B-L conservation laws, we find the equilibrium densities of n_ℓ and n_H and obtain

$$\dot{n}_{B-L} = \Gamma_L \left(n_\ell - \frac{n_H}{2} \right) = \Gamma_L \times \begin{cases} \frac{7 - 4c_W}{35} \dot{\theta} T^2 & y_d^2 \ll y_u^2 \\ \frac{-1 - 4c_W}{35} \dot{\theta} T^2 & y_u^2 \ll y_d^2 \end{cases} = \frac{26}{35} \Gamma_L n_{B-L}^{\text{eq}}. \tag{B.4}$$

The results in the large y_u limit of eqs. (B.3) and (B.4) are listed in the first two rows of table 1, where $n_{B-L} = c_{B-L}\dot{\theta}T^2$ is understood as opposed to eq. (2.17) when $\Gamma_L > H$. The computation of c_{B-L} for other sets of interactions in equilibrium can be obtained in a similar manner. Starting from the full Boltzmann equations in eq. (B.2), one drops the interaction terms that are out of equilibrium and includes the conservation laws that are restored due to the inactive interactions. For example, when the electroweak sphaleron process is inactive, n_{B+L} becomes conserved. On the other hand, if the Yukawa interaction involving y_e is inactive, then the right-handed electron number $n_{\bar{e}}$ is conserved. Generically speaking, $c_{B-L} \simeq 0.1 - 0.2$ along with eq. (2.19) motivates our choice of $c_B = 0.05 - 0.1$ throughout the paper.

C Kinetic misalignment mechanism

For large values of $\dot{\theta}$ the axion can account for the observed dark matter relic abundance via the kinetic misalignment mechanism [26]. Let us consider the axion potential provided by non-perturbative QCD effects

$$V = m_a^2(T) f_a^2 \left(1 - \cos \frac{a}{f_a} \right) , \qquad (C.1)$$

where the temperature dependence of the axion mass $m_a(T)$ can be obtained from the dilute instanton gas approximation [161]

$$m_a(T) \simeq m_a(0) \left(\frac{\Lambda_{\rm QCD}}{T}\right)^4$$
 (C.2)

At high temperatures $T \gg \Lambda_{\rm QCD} \simeq 150$ MeV the axion is basically massless, and for small $\dot{\theta}$ the axion field is essentially frozen due to Hubble friction. However, when the mass term becomes comparable to the Hubble friction term, the axion field begins to oscillate around the minimum of its potential. The temperature when the axion field starts oscillating, T_* , is set by $3H(T_*) = m_a(T_*)$, leading to the conventional misalignment mechanism. On the other hand, for large values of $\dot{\theta}$ at T_* , the kinetic energy may be larger that the potential energy delaying the initiation of the axion field oscillation leading to the KMM. The boundary between kinetic and misalignment mechanism can be define as the minimum value of $\dot{\theta}$ needed such that the kinetic energy is equal to the height of the potential at T_* , i.e., $\dot{\theta}_{\rm crit}^2 f_a^2/2 = 2m_a^2(T_*)f_a^2$. It is convenient to write this condition in terms of the comoving PQ charge density as

$$Y_{\rm PQ} = \frac{n_{\rm PQ}}{s} = \frac{\dot{\theta} f_a^2}{s} > Y_{\rm crit} \simeq 0.07 \left(\frac{f_a}{10^9 \text{ GeV}}\right)^{\frac{13}{6}},$$
 (C.3)

where we evaluated $g_*(T_*) \simeq 80$. As soon as the kinetic energy drops below the potential height, the axion starts to oscillates down to the potential minimum. The axion energy density at the time of the oscillations for $Y_{\rm PQ} \gg Y_{\rm crit}$ is

$$\frac{\rho_a}{s} \simeq 2m_a(0)Y_{\rm PQ}\,,\tag{C.4}$$

where the factor of 2 is a correction from the analytical estimation [26], resulting in $Y_a \simeq 2Y_{PQ}$. The final dark matter abundance set by KMM is

$$\Omega_a h^2 \simeq 0.12 \left(\frac{Y_{\rm PQ}}{37}\right) \left(\frac{10^9 \text{ GeV}}{f_a}\right) \,. \tag{C.5}$$

Notice that if we substitute $Y_{\rm crit}$ in the previous equation the kinetic misalignment mechanism cannot produce the entirety of the dark matter abundance for $f_a \gtrsim 2 \times 10^{11}$ GeV.

D Initiation of rotations

For large initial field values $|P_i| \gg N_{\rm DW} f_a$, the higher-dimensional potential $V_{\rm PQ}(P)$ can be extremely effective in generating an initial kick for the P field in the θ direction. Since |P| decreases due to cosmic expansion, the influence of the higher-dimensional operator diminishes. As a result, the PQ charge density can be thought of as the charge associated with the global U(1)_{PQ} symmetry. Therefore, the corresponding Noether charge density is simply $n_{\rm PQ} = (iP\dot{P}^* - iP^*\dot{P})/N_{\rm DW} = \dot{\theta}S^2/N_{\rm DW}^2$. We derive the initial asymmetry produced by $V_{\rm PO}(P)$ using the equation of motion of P

$$\ddot{P} + 3H\dot{P} + \frac{\partial V_{\rm PQ}}{\partial P^*} + \frac{\partial V_{\rm PQ}}{\partial P^*} = 0.$$
 (D.1)

It is useful to isolate the contribution of $V_{PQ}(P)$ to understand the initial kick more clearly. After multiplying eq. (D.1) by P^* and subtracting the equation of motion of P^* multiplied by P, we obtain

$$S^{2}\ddot{\theta} + 2\dot{S}S\dot{\theta} + 3HS^{2}\dot{\theta} = iN_{\rm DW}\left(P^{*}\frac{\partial V_{\rm PQ}}{\partial P^{*}} - P\frac{\partial V_{\rm PQ}}{\partial P}\right). \tag{D.2}$$

Then, the first two terms on the left-hand side are just $\dot{n}_{PQ} = (S^2 \ddot{\theta} + 2\dot{S}S\dot{\theta})/N_{DW}^2$. Therefore, the evolution of the PQ charge density is described by

$$\dot{n}_{\rm PQ} + 3H n_{\rm PQ} = i N_{\rm DW}^{-1} \left(P^* \frac{\partial V_{\rm PQ}}{\partial P^*} - P \frac{\partial V_{\rm PQ}}{\partial P} \right) \,. \tag{D.3}$$

This equation is general and can be used for any $V_{PQ}(P)$ as long as $S \gg N_{DW} f_a$. Using $V_{PQ}(P)$ of eq. (3.1) (or eq. (4.5)) and integrating, the PQ asymmetry produced at time t is

$$R^{3} n_{\rm PQ}(t) = \frac{2nA}{2^{n/2}N_{\rm DW}M^{n-3}} \int \frac{R^{2}S^{n}\sin(n\theta/N_{\rm DW})}{H} \,\mathrm{d}R\,.$$
(D.4)

Let us examine in detail when the dominant contribution to the PQ asymmetry is generated. Initially, the saxion is frozen due to Hubble friction and therefore the field is constant $S = S_i$. The term on the right-hand side proportional to R^5 in a radiation dominated universe. Hence, the dominant contribution results from later times. When $3H = m_S(S_i)$ the saxion begins to oscillate and the amplitude decreases as $S \propto R^{-k}$, with $k = 1, \frac{3}{2}$ for quartic and quadratic potentials respectively. The term on the right-hand side of eq. (D.4) goes as R^{-nk+5} and as long nk > 5 the contribution to the PQ asymmetry at later times is negligible. Therefore, n_{PQ} is essentially conserved as $V_{PQ}(P)$ becomes negligible. Hence, the PQ asymmetry is dominantly produced at the onset of S oscillations at $R = R_{osc}$ and is approximated by evaluating the integral at R_{osc}

$$n_{\rm PQ}(t_{\rm osc}) \simeq \frac{6n \, A S_i^n \sin(n\theta_{\rm inf}/N_{\rm DW})}{2^{n/2} \, N_{\rm DW} \, M^{n-3} \, m_S(S_i)} \,, \tag{D.5}$$

where θ_{inf} is the initial value of the phase direction of the *P* field and it is fixed during inflation and one expects $\sin(n\theta_{\text{inf}}/N_{\text{DW}}) \simeq \mathcal{O}(1)$. For the quartic case, using eq. (D.5) in the definition of ϵ from eq. (3.7), gives

$$\epsilon \simeq \frac{6n \, A S_i^{n-2}}{2^{n/2} \, M^{n-3} \, m_S^2(S_i)} = 3 \left(\frac{V'_{\text{PQ}}}{V'_{\text{PQ}}} \right) \,. \tag{D.6}$$

Now for the quadratic case, the PQ asymmetry density due to the A-term potential is derived from eqs. (D.5) and (4.7) and reads

$$n_{\rm PQ} \simeq \left(\frac{n}{N_{\rm DW}(n-1)^{1/2}}\right) AS_i^2$$
. (D.7)

Unlike the quartic case, the definition of ϵ is slightly different, $\epsilon \equiv (N_{\rm DW} n_{\rm PQ})/2n_S$, giving

$$\epsilon \simeq \left(\frac{n}{(n-1)^{1/2}}\right) \frac{A}{m_S} = 3 \left(\frac{V'_{\rm PQ}}{V'_{\rm PQ}}\right) \,. \tag{D.8}$$

E Averaged angular velocity and asymmetries

After initiation, the rotation of the PQ symmetry breaking field P is not necessarily circular; it may have high ellipticity. The angular velocity $\dot{\theta}$ is not a constant, but oscillates in time



Figure 7. The time average of $\dot{\theta}$ as a function of ϵ for the quartic potential, normalized to $\dot{\theta}$ for a pure rotation ($\epsilon = 1$).

with a period ~ m_S^{-1} . In this appendix, we compute the time-averaged value of $\dot{\theta}$. We also derive the conditions such that the baryon asymmetry produced per Hubble time is simply given by replacing $\dot{\theta}$ with $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$. Here we put $N_{\rm DW} = 1$. For $N_{\rm DW} > 1$, the result is simply $N_{\rm DW}$ times larger.

As discussed in the main text, the order of magnitude of $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$ is independent of ϵ , and the precise value becomes independent of ϵ for $\epsilon \ll 1$. In figure 7, we show $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$ as a function of ϵ for a quartic potential.

The near independence of $\langle \dot{\theta} \rangle$ on ϵ can be understood as follows. For a rotation with a maximal amplitude S_{max} , the energy density ρ and the PQ asymmetry n_{PQ} are

$$\rho \simeq m_S^2 S_{\text{max}}^2, \quad n_{\text{PQ}} \simeq \epsilon m_S S_{\text{max}}^2.$$
(E.1)

The angular velocity $\hat{\theta}$ takes the maximal value when P passes nearest to the origin. The maximal value can be estimated by the energy and the charge conservations,

$$\dot{\theta}_{\max} \simeq \frac{m_S}{\epsilon}.$$
 (E.2)

During one rotation, $\dot{\theta}$ remains of this order only for a time scale $\dot{\theta}_{\max}^{-1}$. The time-averaged value of $\dot{\theta}$ is then

$$\left\langle \dot{\theta} \right\rangle \simeq \dot{\theta}_{\max} \times \frac{m_S}{\dot{\theta}_{\max}} = m_S,$$
 (E.3)

which is independent of ϵ .

We use this time-averaged value for $\dot{\theta}$ in eq. (2.20), but this is not correct for extremely small ϵ . Eq. (2.8) implicitly assume $\dot{\theta} < T$ and S > T which is violated by eq. (E.2) for too small $\epsilon < m_S/T$ or T/S_{max} . Also, when $\dot{\theta} > T$, it can no longer be treated us a background field which slowly varies in comparison with the typical time scale of thermal bath $\sim T^{-1}$. We assume $\epsilon > m_S/T$ and T/S_{max} in this paper.

When $\epsilon \ll 1$, $\dot{\theta}$ rapidly changes around $\dot{\theta} \sim \dot{\theta}_{\text{max}} \sim m_S/\epsilon$. One may then wonder that the transfer rate of n_{PQ} into particle charge asymmetries must be larger than m_S/ϵ rather than H, so that the particle charge asymmetries follow $\sim \dot{\theta}T^2$ during the rotations and our estimation of the B-L asymmetry is correct. We find that such a large transfer rate is not necessary. To see this, let us consider the transfer of the charge $P \rightarrow \psi_1 \rightarrow \psi_2$ governed by the following Boltzmann equations,

$$\dot{n}_1 = \Gamma_1(\dot{\theta}T^2 - n_1) - \Gamma_2(n_1 - n_2),$$

$$\dot{n}_2 = \Gamma_2(n_1 - n_2).$$
 (E.4)

The cycle averages of $n_{1,2}$ are

$$\langle n_1 \rangle = \frac{\omega}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi/\omega} \mathrm{d}t \ n_1 = \frac{\omega}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi/\omega} \mathrm{d}t \ \left(\dot{\theta} T^2 - \frac{\dot{n}_1 + \dot{n}_2}{\Gamma_1} \right)$$

$$= \left\langle \dot{\theta} \right\rangle T^2 - \frac{\omega}{2\pi\Gamma_1} \left(n_1 \left(\frac{2\pi}{\omega} \right) - n_1 \left(0 \right) + n_2 \left(\frac{2\pi}{\omega} \right) - n_2 \left(0 \right) \right),$$

$$\langle n_2 \rangle = \langle n_1 \rangle - \frac{\omega}{2\pi\Gamma_2} \left(n_2 \left(\frac{2\pi}{\omega} \right) - n_2 \left(0 \right) \right).$$
(E.5)

As long as $\Gamma_{1,2}$ is much larger than H, $n_{1,2}$ follows a quasi-equilibrium value where they change periodically, and $n_{1,2}(2\pi/\omega) - n_{1,2}(0)$ vanishes. Thus, the cycle averages of $n_{1,2}$ are given by

$$\langle n_1 \rangle = \left\langle \dot{\theta} \right\rangle T^2, \quad \langle n_2 \rangle = \left\langle n_1 \right\rangle.$$
 (E.6)

One can generalize this analysis to a more generic chain of transfers and show that the cycle average of particle asymmetries follows $\sim \langle \dot{\theta} \rangle T^2$ as long as the transfer rates are larger than H. One can also confirm that if some transfer rate Γ_i in the chain is below H, a suppression factor Γ_i/H is present after that transfer is involved.

Although the cycle averages of $n_{1,2}$ do not depend on the hierarchy between m_S and $\Gamma_{1,2}$, the evolution of $n_{1,2}$ during the cycle shows quite different behaviors depending on the hierarchy. In the upper panel of figure 8, we show the numerical solution of the Boltzmann equation for $\epsilon = 0.01$, $\Gamma_{1,2} = 10m_S$ with $n_{1,2}(0) = 0$. Here we assume a quadratic potential of S, but a similar result holds for a quartic potential. n_1 does not follow the equilibrium value $\dot{\theta}T^2$ since $\Gamma_1 \ll m_S/\epsilon$. In each cycle, n_1 is driven to a non-zero value by instantaneously large $\dot{\theta}$, and exponentially decays with a time scale Γ_1^{-1} . Since $\Gamma_1 \gg m_S$, the decay is effective and at the end of the cycle, $n_1 \simeq 0$. n_2 shows a similar behavior driven by the rapid change of n_1 .

In the lower panel of figure 8, we show the numerical solution for $\epsilon = 0.01$, $\Gamma_{1,2} = 0.1 m_S$ with $n_{1,2}(0) = 0$. Initially, in each cycle, n_1 increases by instantaneously large $\dot{\theta}$. Since $\Gamma_1 \ll m_S$, the decay is not effective and n_1 is non-zero at the end of the cycle. After a time $\sim \Gamma_1^{-1}$, n_1 begins a periodical evolution with $\langle n_1 \rangle = \langle \dot{\theta} \rangle T^2$. n_2 shows a similar behavior driven by n_1 .

In the above analysis Γ_1 is assumed to be constant during the cycle. This is the case, for example, if Γ_1 is given by the sphaleron transition. In the KSVZ-light or DFSZ-light, Γ_1 depends on S and rapidly changes during the cycle. Let us consider the following Boltzmann equation,

$$\dot{n}_1 = \Gamma_0 \frac{S^2}{S_{\text{max}}^2} (\dot{\theta} T^2 - n_1), \qquad (E.7)$$



Figure 8. The evolution of asymmetries. In the upper panel, $m_S \ll \Gamma_{1,2} \ll m_S/\epsilon$, while in the lower panel $\Gamma_{1,2} \ll m_S \ll m_S/\epsilon$.

which is applicable to the case where P linearly couples to light particles. By numerically solving the Boltzmann equation, we find that the cycle averaged n_1 is well-fitted by

$$\langle n_1 \rangle \simeq \left\langle \dot{\theta} \right\rangle T^2 \times \begin{cases} 2\epsilon & : \Gamma_0 \ll m_S \\ \epsilon \left(\frac{\Gamma_0}{m_S}\right)^{1/3} & m_S \ll \Gamma_0 \ll m_S/\epsilon^3 \cdot \\ 1 & m_S/\epsilon^3 \ll \Gamma_0 \end{cases}$$
(E.8)

The result can be understood in the following way. For $\Gamma_0 \ll m_S$, the evolution of n_1 is slow in comparison with that of S, and we may take the time average of eq. (E.7) over a time scale longer than m_S^{-1} . Taking $\langle \dot{n}_1 \rangle = 0$, we obtain the first line in eq. (E.8). For $\Gamma_0 \gg m_S$, n_1 follows an equilibrium value $\dot{\theta}T^2$ when S is close to S_{max} . As S becomes smaller and $\dot{\theta}$ becomes larger, n_1 fails to follow $\dot{\theta}T^2$, which occurs when

$$\frac{\ddot{\theta}}{\dot{\theta}} \simeq \Gamma_0 \frac{S^2}{S_{\max}^2}.$$
(E.9)

Using the charge conservation $\dot{\theta}S^2 = \epsilon m_S S_{\text{max}}^2$ and the energy conservation $|\dot{S}| \simeq m_S S_{\text{max}}$, we find that this occurs when

$$\dot{\theta} \simeq \epsilon \Gamma_0^{1/3} m_S^{1/3} \equiv \dot{\theta}_d. \tag{E.10}$$

After this occurs, for a time scale $\Delta t_d \simeq (\dot{\theta}/\ddot{\theta})|_{\dot{\theta}\simeq\dot{\theta}_d} \simeq \Gamma_0^{-1/3} m_S^{-2/3}$, n_1 is as large as $\dot{\theta}_d T^2$. The averaged n_1 is then $\dot{\theta}_d T^2 \Delta t_d m_S$, which is the second line of eq. (E.8). When $\Gamma_0 \gg m_S/\epsilon^3$, n_1 follows $\dot{\theta}T^2$ whole time during the cycle, and we obtain the third line of eq. (E.8).



Figure 9. Evolution of various energy densities as functions of the scale factor R for the quadratic potential. The red, orange dashed, and blue curves are respectively the energy densities of the thermal bath, the oscillation (saxion), and the rotation (axion). The red solid and dotted curves distinguish the different thermalization channels– scattering with the fermion and the gluon. The vertical lines separate different cosmological eras: R_M the beginning of matter domination MD, $R_{\rm th}$ the completion of thermalization, $R_{\rm KD}$ the beginning of kination domination KD, and $R_{\rm RD_f}$ the beginning of final radiation domination RD_f.

F Scaling laws in various cosmological eras for quadratic potentials

If the universe is radiation dominated when the PQ symmetry breaking field begins rotation, as shown in figure 9, the universe experiences the following six eras: 1) the first radiation domination, RD_i , 2) the first matter domination with adiabatic evolution of the thermal bath, $\text{MD}_{A}^{\text{osc}}$, 3) matter domination with non-adiabatic evolution of the thermal bath, $\text{MD}_{A}^{\text{osc}}$, 4) the second matter domination with adiabatic evolution of the thermal bath, $\text{MD}_{A}^{\text{osc}}$, 5) kination domination, KD, and 6) the second radiation domination, RD_f . The second matter-dominated era $\text{MD}_{A}^{\text{rot}}$ is possible because thermalization processes are PQ-conserving and cannot deplete the energy density associated with the rotation that carries the PQ charge. Importantly, this $\text{MD}_{A}^{\text{rot}}$ era does not lead to subsequent entropy production due to the rapid redshifting during kination, when the saxion field value is relaxed to f_a .

We derive in this section the scaling of the baryon asymmetry produced per Hubble time during these various eras. For pedagogical purposes, we show explicit discussions only for the case where $T_{\rm EW} < T < T_{\rm ss}$ so the strong sphaleron processes are in thermal equilibrium and the rotation begins in a radiation-dominated universe. A summary of all other relevant cases is given below in table 2.

Since entropy is produced at thermalization of the rotating PQ symmetry breaking field P, before the completion of the thermalization it is convenient to normalize the baryon number by the energy density of P, which scales as $\rho_P \propto R^{-3}$.

1) During the first radiation domination, $T \propto R^{-1}$, $\Gamma_L \propto T^3 \propto R^{-3}$, and $H \propto R^{-2}$. Since $\dot{\theta} = \text{const}$ for $\bar{S} \gg f_a$, using (4.10) we find

$$\frac{\Delta n_B}{\rho_P} \propto R^0 \,. \tag{F.1}$$

Baryon production proceeds with equal efficiency at all temperatures.

2) During the first matter dominated adiabatic era, we have $T \propto R^{-1}$, $\Gamma_L \propto R^{-3}$ and $H \propto R^{-3/2}$, so

$$\frac{\Delta n_B}{\rho_P} \propto R^{-1/2}.\tag{F.2}$$

Baryon production is UV dominated and most efficient when the universe becomes matter dominated at $T = T_{\rm M}$.

3) During matter domination with non-adiabatic evolution, $T \propto R^{3/2}$ and $R^{-1/2}$ for the thermalization by gluon scattering and fermion scattering, respectively. Then

$$\frac{\Delta n_B}{\rho_P} \propto R^{12} \text{ and } R^2,$$
 (F.3)

respectively. The production is IR dominated and hence the baryon asymmetry is dominantly produced at $T_{\rm th}$ when thermalization is completed.

4) After the completion of thermalization, the universe is in the second matter dominated adiabatic era. Since no more entropy is created, it is now convenient to normalize the asymmetry by the entropy density. Similar to the first matter dominated adiabatic era,

$$\frac{\Delta n_B}{s} \propto R^{-1/2} \tag{F.4}$$

and hence the production of baryon asymmetry is dominated at $R_{\rm th}$.

5) The universe enters kination domination when $S \simeq f_a$. In kination domination $\dot{\theta} \propto R^{-3}$ and $H \propto R^{-3}$. This leads to

$$\frac{\Delta n_B}{s} \propto R^{-2},\tag{F.5}$$

which is UV dominated.

6) During the second radiation domination, $H \propto R^{-2}$, leading to

$$\frac{\Delta n_B}{s} \propto R^{-3},$$
 (F.6)

which is again UV dominated.

We summarize the results in table 2. If the saxion oscillates during the inflation matterdominated era, the universe starts with the gray row MD_{NA}^{inf} and moves to the first red row RD_i after inflationary reheating completes. Otherwise, the universe starts from RD_i when the saxion oscillates. If the saxion energy comes to dominate, then the universe evolves

Fpoch	Н	Т	Γ_L	$\Gamma_{\rm ss}$	ρ_P	ė	$T < T_{\rm ss}$		$T_{\rm ss} < T < T_L$	
Еросп							$\frac{\Delta n_B}{s}$	$\frac{\Delta n_B}{\rho_P}$	$\frac{\Delta n_B}{s}$	$\frac{\Delta n_B}{\rho_P}$
$\mathrm{MD}_\mathrm{NA}^\mathrm{inf}$	$R^{-\frac{3}{2}}$	$R^{-\frac{3}{8}}$	$R^{-\frac{9}{8}}$	$R^{-\frac{3}{8}}$	R^{-3}	R^0		$R^{\frac{21}{8}}$		$R^{\frac{15}{4}}$
RD_i	R^{-2}	R^{-1}	R^{-3}	R^{-1}	R^{-3}	R^0		R^0		R^1
$\mathrm{MD}_\mathrm{A}^\mathrm{osc}$	$R^{-\frac{3}{2}}$	R^{-1}	R^{-3}	R^{-1}	R^{-3}	R^0		$R^{-\frac{1}{2}}$		R^0
$\mathrm{MD}_{\mathrm{NA}}^{\mathrm{osc}} \begin{cases} \mathrm{gauge} \\ \mathrm{bosons} \\ \mathrm{fermion} \end{cases}$	$R^{-rac{3}{2}}$ $R^{-rac{3}{2}}$	$\begin{array}{c} R^{\frac{3}{2}} \\ R^{-\frac{1}{2}} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c c} R^{\frac{9}{2}} \\ R^{-\frac{3}{2}} \end{array}$	$R^{rac{3}{2}}$ $R^{-rac{1}{2}}$	$\begin{array}{c} R^{-3} \\ R^{-3} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} R^0 \\ R^0 \end{array}$	_	R^{12} R^2	_	R^{15} R^3
$\mathrm{MD}_\mathrm{A}^\mathrm{rot}$	$R^{-\frac{3}{2}}$	R^{-1}	R^{-3}	R^{-1}	R^{-3}	R^0	$R^{-\frac{1}{2}}$		R^0	
KD	R^{-3}	R^{-1}	R^{-3}	R^{-1}	R^{-6}	R^{-3}	R^{-2}		R^0	
RD_{f}	R^{-2}	R^{-1}	R^{-3}	R^{-1}	R^{-6}	R^{-3}	R^{-3}		R^{-2}	

Table 2. Scalings of physical quantities relevant for the estimation of the baryon asymmetry.

through the white rows $MD_{A,NA}^{osc}$. In this case, the MD_A^{rot} and KD eras in the blue rows are expected to occur before the final red row RD_f arrives, unless ϵ is sufficiently small. On the other hand, if the saxion thermalizes before dominating, then the universe does not evolve through $MD_{A,NA}^{osc}$, MD_A^{rot} , and KD and instead goes directly to RD_f from RD_i . In each row, the scaling laws of various relevant quantities are listed; a derived quantity involving Δn_B , which is otherwise conserved in the absence of a source, is presented for each case of T in relation to T_{ws} and T_L . From this derived quantity, one can determine by the scaling with R whether the baryon asymmetry production per unit Hubble time is UV- or IR-dominated or neither.

Finally, we note that this table still does not exhaust all the possibilities because we have assumed that S settles to f_a at a temperature lower than any other relevant temperatures. A sufficiently large S_i will validate this assumption.

G Parametric resonance for the nearly quadratic potential

In this appendix, we discuss parametric resonance in theories with nearly quadratic potentials. We first consider the theory with the potential in eq. (4.1), and show the critical value of ϵ below which parametric resonance occurs.

We decompose the field P as

$$P = \frac{S_0}{\sqrt{2}} \left(X(t) + \chi(x, t) \right) e^{i(\theta(t) + \alpha(x, t))},$$
(G.1)

and scale the space-time variables as

$$(x,t) \to \frac{1}{\omega_0}(x,t), \ \ \omega_0 \equiv m_S \left(2\ln\frac{S_0}{f_a}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (G.2)

We expect that the growth rate of fluctuations is typically at most $\mathcal{O}(m_S)$, and parametric resonance becomes effective only after tens of oscillations. At that stage, since $m_S/H \gg 1$,



Figure 10. The growth rate the axion fluctuations for $\epsilon = 0.2$ and $S_0/f_a = 10^6$.

we may neglect the effect of cosmic expansion. The equations of motion of the zero modes X and θ are

$$\ddot{X} - \dot{\theta}^2 X + \frac{\ln\left(r^2 X^2\right)}{\ln r^2} X = 0, \quad r \equiv \frac{S_0}{f_a}, \tag{G.3}$$

$$\ddot{\theta} + \frac{2}{X}\dot{X}\dot{\theta} = 0.$$
 (G.4)

We take the initial time at a point with $\dot{X}(0) = 0$. By adjusting S_0 , we can take X(0) = 1. The solution for θ is

$$\dot{\theta} = \frac{X(0)^2 \dot{\theta}(0)}{X^2} = \frac{\epsilon}{X^2}, \ \epsilon \equiv \dot{\theta}(0), \qquad (G.5)$$

which is nothing but conservation of the PQ charge. The equation of motion of X is

$$\ddot{X} - \frac{\epsilon^2}{X^4} X + \frac{\ln(r^2 X^2)}{\ln r^2} X = 0.$$
 (G.6)

The equations of motion for the fluctuations χ and α in momentum space are

$$\ddot{\chi}_k - 2X\dot{\theta}\dot{\alpha}_k + \left(k^2 + \frac{2 + \ln\left(r^2 X^2\right)}{\ln r^2} - \dot{\theta}^2\right)\chi_k = 0, \qquad (G.7)$$

$$\ddot{\alpha}_k + \frac{2}{X} \left(\dot{\theta} \dot{\chi}_k + \dot{X} \dot{\alpha}_k \right) + k^2 \alpha_k + \frac{\ddot{\theta}}{X} \chi_k = 0.$$
 (G.8)

We solve these equations of motion numerically, and compute the growth rate μ_k of the amplitudes of the fluctuations,

$$\chi_k, \alpha_k \sim e^{\mu_k t} \,. \tag{G.9}$$

We find that the axion fluctuations α generically grow faster than the fluctuations of χ . In figure 10, we show μ_k of the axion fluctuations for $\epsilon = 0.2$ and $S_0/f_a = 10^6$.

For a given ϵ , we obtain the value of the wavenumber k_{max} with the maximal growth rate μ_{max} , both of which are shown in table 3. Here we take $S_0/f_a = 10^6$ and 10^4 . $(k_{\text{max}}, \mu_{\text{max}})$ stays nearly constant for $\epsilon \ll 1$, and becomes smaller as ϵ approaches $\mathcal{O}(1)$. We

$S_0/f_a = 10^6$												
ϵ	0.001	0.01	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.7			
$k_{\rm max}$	0.19	0.19	0.15	0.13	0.10	0.08	0.06	N/A	N/A			
$\mu_{\rm max}$	0.018	0.017	0.012	0.008	0.006	0.005	0.002	N/A	N/A			
	$S_0/f_a = 10^4$											
ϵ	0.001	0.01	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.7			
$k_{\rm max}$	0.23	0.23	0.19	0.15	0.12	0.1	0.08	0.06	N/A			
$\mu_{ m max}$	0.027	0.026	0.018	0.012	0.008	0.006	0.006	0.002	N/A			

Table 3. The wavenumber k_{max} having the maximal growth rate μ_{max} , for the theory of eq. (4.1) with a logarithmically evolving soft mass.

$\epsilon = 0.2$												
$S_0/\sqrt{2}v_{\rm PQ}$	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80				
k _{max}	0.72	0.20	0.09	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.02	N/A				
$\mu_{ m max}$	0.29	0.028	0.016	0.0018	0.0015	0.0006	0.0003	N/A				
	$\epsilon = 0.4$											
$S_0/\sqrt{2}v_{\rm PQ}$	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80				
k_{\max}	0.14	0.03	0.02	N/A								
$\mu_{ m max}$	0.010	0.0024	0.00025	N/A								
$\epsilon = 0.5$												
$S_0/\sqrt{2}v_{\rm PQ}$	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80				
k _{max}	0.08	N/A										
$\mu_{ m max}$	0.0060	N/A										

Table 4. The wave number k_{max} having maximal growth rate μ_{max} , for the theory with the superpotential $W = X(P\bar{P} - v_{PQ}^2)$.

find no resonant bands for $\epsilon > 0.5(0.6)$ for $S_0/f_a = 10^6(10^4)$. The resonance enhancement becomes stronger for smaller S_0/f_a as the potential deviates from a quadratic one for smaller S_0 .

We next consider the theory with the superpotential in eq. (4.2). Without loss of generality we assume that $P \gg v_{\rm PQ}$. We may integrate out the heavy mode with a mass $\sim P$ by the constraint $P\bar{P} = v_{\rm PQ}^2$,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} = \left(1 + \frac{v_{\text{PQ}}^4}{|P|^4}\right) \partial P \partial P^\dagger - m_S^2 |P|^2 \left(1 + \frac{v_{\text{PQ}}^4}{|P|^4}\right),\tag{G.10}$$

where we assume $m_P = m_{\bar{P}} \equiv m_S$, for simplicity. We decompose P as

$$P = \frac{S_0}{\sqrt{2}} Y \left(1 + \frac{1}{6r^4 Y^4} \right) e^{i(\theta(t) + \alpha(x,t))},$$

$$r \equiv \frac{S_0}{\sqrt{2}v_{\rm PQ}}, \ Y = X(t) + \chi(x,t).$$
(G.11)

Then, to the next-leading order in $v_{PQ}/|P|$, the equations of motion of the zero modes X and θ are

$$\ddot{X} + (1 - \dot{\theta}^2) \left(1 - \frac{4}{3r^4 X^4} \right) X = 0,$$

$$\ddot{\theta} + \frac{2}{X} \left(1 - \frac{4}{3r^4 X^4} \right) \dot{\theta} \dot{X} = 0.$$
 (G.12)

We take the initial time at a point with $\dot{X}(0) = 0$. By adjusting S_0 , we can take X(0) = 1. The solution for θ is

$$\dot{\theta} = \frac{\epsilon}{X^2} \left(1 - \frac{2}{3r^4} \left(\frac{1}{X^4} - 1 \right) \right), \quad \epsilon = \dot{\theta}(0). \tag{G.13}$$

The equations of motion of the χ and α fluctuations, in momentum space, are

$$\ddot{\chi}_{k} - 2X\left(1 - \frac{4}{3r^{4}X^{4}}\right)\dot{\theta}\dot{\alpha}_{k} + \left(k^{2} + \left(1 - \dot{\theta}^{2}\right)\left(1 + \frac{4}{r^{4}X^{4}}\right)\right)\chi_{k} = 0$$
$$\ddot{\alpha}_{k} + \frac{2}{X}\left(1 - \frac{4}{3r^{4}X^{4}}\right)\left(\dot{\theta}\dot{\chi}_{k} + \dot{X}\dot{\alpha}_{k}\right) + k^{2}\alpha_{k} - \frac{2}{X^{2}}\left(1 - \frac{20}{3r^{4}X^{4}}\right)\dot{\theta}\dot{X}\chi_{k} = 0.$$
(G.14)

Values of k_{max} and μ_{max} are shown in table 4. PR becomes weak as ϵ and/or r becomes larger. For $\epsilon = 0.2$, resonant bands exist only for r < 80. As ϵ becomes larger, the upper bound on r for a resonance band to exist becomes stronger.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- H. Georgi and S.L. Glashow, Unity of all elementary particle forces, Phys. Rev. Lett. 32 (1974) 438 [INSPIRE].
- H. Georgi, H.R. Quinn and S. Weinberg, *Hierarchy of interactions in unified gauge theories*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 33 (1974) 451 [INSPIRE].
- [3] E. Witten, Dynamical breaking of supersymmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 188 (1981) 513 [INSPIRE].
- [4] H. Pagels and J.R. Primack, Supersymmetry, cosmology and new TeV physics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 223 [INSPIRE].
- [5] H. Goldberg, Constraint on the photino mass from cosmology, Phys. Rev. Lett. 50 (1983) 1419 [Erratum ibid. 103 (2009) 099905] [INSPIRE].
- S. Dimopoulos, S. Raby and F. Wilczek, Supersymmetry and the scale of Unification, Phys. Rev. D 24 (1981) 1681 [INSPIRE].
- [7] S. Dimopoulos and H. Georgi, Softly broken supersymmetry and SU(5), Nucl. Phys. B 193 (1981) 150.
- [8] N. Sakai, Naturalness in supersymmetric guts, Z. Phys. C 11 (1981) 153 [INSPIRE].
- [9] L.E. Ibáñez and G.G. Ross, Low-energy predictions in supersymmetric grand unified theories, Phys. Lett. B 105 (1981) 439 [INSPIRE].

- [10] M.B. Einhorn and D.R.T. Jones, The weak mixing angle and unification mass in supersymmetric SU(5), Nucl. Phys. B 196 (1982) 475 [INSPIRE].
- [11] W.J. Marciano and G. Senjanović, Predictions of supersymmetric grand Unified theories, Phys. Rev. D 25 (1982) 3092 [INSPIRE].
- [12] L. Maiani, All you Need to know about the Higgs boson, Conf. Proc. C 7909031 (1979) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [13] M.J.G. Veltman, The infrared-ultraviolet connection, Acta Phys. Polon. B 12 (1981) 437 [INSPIRE].
- [14] R.K. Kaul, Gauge hierarchy in a supersymmetric model, Phys. Lett. B 109 (1982) 19 [INSPIRE].
- [15] R.D. Peccei and H.R. Quinn, CP Conservation in the presence of instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 1440 [INSPIRE].
- [16] R.D. Peccei and H.R. Quinn, Constraints imposed by CP Conservation in the presence of instantons, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 1791 [INSPIRE].
- [17] S. Weinberg, A new light boson?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 223 [INSPIRE].
- [18] F. Wilczek, Problem of strong P and T invariance in the presence of instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 279 [INSPIRE].
- [19] C. Vafa and E. Witten, Parity conservation in QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 53 (1984) 535 [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. Weinberg, Baryon and lepton nonconserving processes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43 (1979) 1566 [INSPIRE].
- [21] F.R. Klinkhamer and N.S. Manton, A saddle point solution in the Weinberg-Salam theory, Phys. Rev. D 30 (1984) 2212 [INSPIRE].
- [22] V.A. Kuzmin, V.A. Rubakov and M.E. Shaposhnikov, On the anomalous electroweak baryon number nonconservation in the early universe, Phys. Lett. B 155 (1985) 36 [INSPIRE].
- [23] J. Preskill, M.B. Wise and F. Wilczek, Cosmology of the invisible axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 127 [INSPIRE].
- [24] L.F. Abbott and P. Sikivie, A cosmological bound on the invisible axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 133 [INSPIRE].
- [25] M. Dine and W. Fischler, The not so harmless axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 137
 [INSPIRE].
- [26] R.T. Co, L.J. Hall and K. Harigaya, Axion kinetic misalignment mechanism, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 251802 [arXiv:1910.14152] [INSPIRE].
- [27] A.D. Dolgov and D.P. Kirilova, On particle creation by a time dependent scalar field, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 51 (1990) 172 [Yad. Fiz. 51 (1990) 273] [INSPIRE].
- [28] J.H. Traschen and R.H. Brandenberger, Particle production during out-of-equilibrium phase transitions, Phys. Rev. D 42 (1990) 2491 [INSPIRE].
- [29] L. Kofman, A.D. Linde and A.A. Starobinsky, *Reheating after inflation*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 73 (1994) 3195 [hep-th/9405187] [INSPIRE].
- [30] L. Kofman, A.D. Linde and A.A. Starobinsky, Towards the theory of reheating after inflation, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 3258 [hep-ph/9704452] [INSPIRE].

- [31] R.T. Co, L.J. Hall and K. Harigaya, QCD axion dark matter with a small decay constant, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 211602 [arXiv:1711.10486] [INSPIRE].
- [32] K. Harigaya and J.M. Leedom, QCD axion dark matter from a late time phase transition, JHEP 06 (2020) 034 [arXiv:1910.04163] [INSPIRE].
- [33] I. Affleck and M. Dine, A new mechanism for baryogenesis, Nucl. Phys. B 249 (1985) 361 [INSPIRE].
- [34] A.G. Cohen and D.B. Kaplan, Thermodynamic generation of the baryon asymmetry, Phys. Lett. B 199 (1987) 251 [INSPIRE].
- [35] A.G. Cohen and D.B. Kaplan, Spontaneous baryogenesis, Nucl. Phys. B **308** (1988) 913 [INSPIRE].
- [36] M. Fukugita and T. Yanagida, Baryogenesis without grand unification, Phys. Lett. B 174 (1986) 45 [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Davidson, E. Nardi and Y. Nir, Leptogenesis, Phys. Rept. 466 (2008) 105 [arXiv:0802.2962] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A.G. Cohen, D.B. Kaplan and A.E. Nelson, Baryogenesis at the weak phase transition, Nucl. Phys. B 349 (1991) 727 [INSPIRE].
- [39] A.G. Cohen, D.B. Kaplan and A.E. Nelson, Weak scale baryogenesis, Phys. Lett. B 245 (1990) 561 [INSPIRE].
- [40] T. Chiba, F. Takahashi and M. Yamaguchi, Baryogenesis in a flat direction with neither baryon nor lepton charge, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 (2004) 011301 [Erratum ibid. 114 (2015) 209901] [hep-ph/0304102] [INSPIRE].
- [41] F. Takahashi and M. Yamaguchi, Spontaneous baryogenesis in flat directions, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 083506 [hep-ph/0308173] [INSPIRE].
- [42] A. Kusenko, K. Schmitz and T.T. Yanagida, Leptogenesis via axion oscillations after inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 011302 [arXiv:1412.2043] [INSPIRE].
- [43] F. Takahashi and M. Yamada, Strongly broken Peccei-Quinn symmetry in the early universe, JCAP 10 (2015) 010 [arXiv:1507.06387] [INSPIRE].
- [44] R.T. Co and K. Harigaya, Axiogenesis, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 111602
 [arXiv:1910.02080] [INSPIRE].
- [45] M. D'Onofrio, K. Rummukainen and A. Tranberg, Sphaleron rate in the minimal standard model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 141602 [arXiv:1404.3565] [INSPIRE].
- [46] M. Dine, O. Lechtenfeld, B. Sakita, W. Fischler and J. Polchinski, Baryon number violation at high temperature in the standard model, Nucl. Phys. B 342 (1990) 381 [INSPIRE].
- [47] G.D. Moore and M. Tassler, The sphaleron rate in SU(N) gauge theory, JHEP 02 (2011) 105 [arXiv:1011.1167] [INSPIRE].
- [48] J.R. Ellis and K.A. Olive, Constraints on light particles from supernova SN1987a, Phys. Lett. B 193 (1987) 525 [INSPIRE].
- [49] G. Raffelt and D. Seckel, Bounds on exotic particle interactions from SN 1987a, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60 (1988) 1793 [INSPIRE].
- [50] M.S. Turner, Axions from SN 1987a, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60 (1988) 1797 [INSPIRE].

- [51] R. Mayle, J.R. Wilson, J.R. Ellis, K.A. Olive, D.N. Schramm and G. Steigman, Constraints on axions from SN 1987a, Phys. Lett. B 203 (1988) 188 [INSPIRE].
- [52] G.G. Raffelt, Astrophysical axion bounds, Lect. Notes phys. 741 (2008) 51 [hep-ph/0611350] [INSPIRE].
- [53] J.H. Chang, R. Essig and S.D. McDermott, Supernova 1987A constraints on sub-GeV dark sectors, millicharged particles, the QCD axion, and an axion-like particle, JHEP 09 (2018) 051 [arXiv:1803.00993] [INSPIRE].
- [54] P. Carenza, T. Fischer, M. Giannotti, G. Guo, G. Martínez-Pinedo and A. Mirizzi, Improved axion emissivity from a supernova via nucleon-nucleon bremsstrahlung, JCAP 10 (2019) 016 [Erratum ibid. 05 (2020) E01] [arXiv:1906.11844] [INSPIRE].
- [55] T. Yanagida, Horizontal gauge symmetry and masses of neutrinos, Conf. Proc. C 7902131 (1979) 95 [INSPIRE].
- [56] M. Gell-Mann, P. Ramond and R. Slansky, Complex spinors and unified Theories, Conf. Proc. C 790927 (1979) 315 [arXiv:1306.4669] [INSPIRE].
- [57] P. Minkowski, $\mu \to e\gamma$ at a rate of one out of 10⁹ muon decays?, Phys. Lett. B 67 (1977) 421 [INSPIRE].
- [58] R.N. Mohapatra and G. Senjanović, Neutrino mass and spontaneous parity nonconservation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 44 (1980) 912 [INSPIRE].
- [59] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 641 (2020) A6 [arXiv:1807.06209] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J.E. Kim, Weak interaction singlet and strong CP invariance, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43 (1979) 103 [INSPIRE].
- [61] M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, Can confinement ensure natural CP invariance of strong interactions?, Nucl. Phys. B 166 (1980) 493 [INSPIRE].
- [62] M. Dine, W. Fischler and M. Srednicki, A simple solution to the strong CP problem with a harmless axion, Phys. Lett. B 104 (1981) 199 [INSPIRE].
- [63] A.R. Zhitnitsky, On possible suppression of the axion hadron interactions (in Russian), Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 31 (1980) 260 [Yad. Fiz. 31 (1980) 497] [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Dine, L. Randall and S.D. Thomas, Supersymmetry breaking in the early universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995) 398 [hep-ph/9503303] [INSPIRE].
- [65] M. Dine, L. Randall and S.D. Thomas, Baryogenesis from flat directions of the supersymmetric standard model, Nucl. Phys. B 458 (1996) 291 [hep-ph/9507453] [INSPIRE].
- [66] R.T. Co, L.J. Hall, K. Harigaya, K.A. Olive and S. Verner, Axion kinetic misalignment and parametric resonance from inflation, JCAP 08 (2020) 036 [arXiv:2004.00629] [INSPIRE].
- [67] S. Kasuya and M. Kawasaki, Topological defects formation after inflation on lattice simulation, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 083516 [hep-ph/9804429] [INSPIRE].
- [68] S. Kasuya and M. Kawasaki, Comments on cosmic string formation during preheating on lattice simulations, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 083510 [hep-ph/9903324] [INSPIRE].
- [69] M. Kawasaki, T.T. Yanagida and K. Yoshino, Domain wall and isocurvature perturbation problems in axion models, JCAP 11 (2013) 030 [arXiv:1305.5338] [INSPIRE].

- [70] A. Anisimov and M. Dine, Some issues in flat direction baryogenesis, Nucl. Phys. B 619 (2001) 729 [hep-ph/0008058] [INSPIRE].
- [71] N. Ishizuka and M. Yoshimura, Axion and dilaton emissivity from nascent neutron stars, Prog. Theor. Phys. 84 (1990) 233 [INSPIRE].
- [72] KLEVER PROJECT collaboration, *KLEVER: an experiment to measure* $BR(K_L \to \pi^0 \nu \bar{\nu})$ at the CERN SPS, arXiv:1901.03099 [INSPIRE].
- [73] J. Beacham et al., Physics beyond colliders at CERN: beyond the standard model working group report, J. Phys. G 47 (2020) 010501 [arXiv:1901.09966] [INSPIRE].
- [74] B.D. Fields, K.A. Olive, T.-H. Yeh and C. Young, Big-Bang nucleosynthesis after Planck, JCAP 03 (2020) 010 [Erratum ibid. 11 (2020) E02] [arXiv:1912.01132] [INSPIRE].
- [75] W. Buchmüller, P. Di Bari and M. Plümacher, Leptogenesis for pedestrians, Annals Phys. 315 (2005) 305 [hep-ph/0401240] [INSPIRE].
- [76] G.F. Giudice, A. Notari, M. Raidal, A. Riotto and A. Strumia, Towards a complete theory of thermal leptogenesis in the SM and MSSM, Nucl. Phys. B 685 (2004) 89
 [hep-ph/0310123] [INSPIRE].
- [77] D. Croon, N. Fernandez, D. McKeen and G. White, Stability, reheating and leptogenesis, JHEP 06 (2019) 098 [arXiv:1903.08658] [INSPIRE].
- [78] V. Iršič et al., New constraints on the free-streaming of warm dark matter from intermediate and small scale Lyman-α forest data, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 023522 [arXiv:1702.01764] [INSPIRE].
- [79] L. Lopez-Honorez, O. Mena, S. Palomares-Ruiz and P. Villanueva-Domingo, Warm dark matter and the ionization history of the universe, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 103539 [arXiv:1703.02302] [INSPIRE].
- [80] M. Sitwell, A. Mesinger, Y.-Z. Ma and K. Sigurdson, The imprint of warm Dark matter on the cosmological 21 cm signal, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 438 (2014) 2664 [arXiv:1310.0029] [INSPIRE].
- [81] R. Micha and I.I. Tkachev, Relativistic turbulence: a long way from preheating to equilibrium, Phys. Rev. Lett. 90 (2003) 121301 [hep-ph/0210202] [INSPIRE].
- [82] A. Boyarsky, J. Lesgourgues, O. Ruchayskiy and M. Viel, Lyman-α constraints on warm and on warm-plus-cold dark matter models, JCAP 05 (2009) 012 [arXiv:0812.0010] [INSPIRE].
- [83] M. Viel, M.G. Haehnelt and V. Springel, Inferring the dark matter power spectrum from the Lyman-α forest in high-resolution QSO absorption spectra, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 354 (2004) 684 [astro-ph/0404600] [INSPIRE].
- [84] SDSS collaboration, The Lyman-α forest power spectrum from the Sloan Digital Sky Survey, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 163 (2006) 80 [astro-ph/0405013] [INSPIRE].
- [85] SDSS collaboration, The linear theory power spectrum from the Lyman-alpha forest in the Sloan Digital Sky Survey, Astrophys. J. 635 (2005) 761 [astro-ph/0407377] [INSPIRE].
- [86] R.L. Davis, Cosmic axions from cosmic strings, Phys. Lett. B 180 (1986) 225 [INSPIRE].
- [87] M. Kawasaki, K. Saikawa and T. Sekiguchi, Axion dark matter from topological defects, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 065014 [arXiv:1412.0789] [INSPIRE].
- [88] V.B., Klaer and G.D. Moore, The dark-matter axion mass, JCAP 11 (2017) 049 [arXiv:1708.07521] [INSPIRE].

- [89] M. Gorghetto, E. Hardy and G. Villadoro, Axions from strings: the attractive solution, JHEP 07 (2018) 151 [arXiv:1806.04677] [INSPIRE].
- [90] M. Kawasaki, T. Sekiguchi, M. Yamaguchi and J. Yokoyama, Long-term dynamics of cosmological axion strings, PTEP 2018 (2018) 091E01 [arXiv:1806.05566] [INSPIRE].
- [91] C.J.A.P. Martins, Scaling properties of cosmological axion strings, Phys. Lett. B 788 (2019) 147 [arXiv:1811.12678] [INSPIRE].
- [92] M. Hindmarsh, J. Lizarraga, A. Lopez-Eiguren and J. Urrestilla, Scaling density of axion strings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 021301 [arXiv:1908.03522] [INSPIRE].
- [93] M. Buschmann, J.W. Foster and B.R. Safdi, Early-universe simulations of the cosmological axion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 161103 [arXiv:1906.00967] [INSPIRE].
- [94] C.A. Baker et al., An Improved experimental limit on the electric dipole moment of the neutron, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 131801 [hep-ex/0602020] [INSPIRE].
- [95] J.M. Pendlebury et al., Revised experimental upper limit on the electric dipole moment of the neutron, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 092003 [arXiv:1509.04411] [INSPIRE].
- [96] NEDM collaboration, Measurement of the permanent electric dipole moment of the neutron, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 081803 [arXiv:2001.11966] [INSPIRE].
- [97] D. Bödeker, Moduli decay in the hot early universe, JCAP 06 (2006) 027 [hep-ph/0605030]
 [INSPIRE].
- [98] M. Laine, On bulk viscosity and moduli decay, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 186 (2010) 404 [arXiv:1007.2590] [INSPIRE].
- [99] K. Mukaida and K. Nakayama, Dynamics of oscillating scalar field in thermal environment, JCAP 01 (2013) 017 [arXiv:1208.3399] [INSPIRE].
- [100] W.L.K. Wu et al., A guide to designing future ground-based cosmic microwave background Experiments, Astrophys. J. 788 (2014) 138 [arXiv:1402.4108] [INSPIRE].
- [101] CMB-S4 collaboration, CMB-S4 science book, first edition, arXiv:1610.02743 [INSPIRE].
- [102] J.A. Frieman, S. Dimopoulos and M.S. Turner, Axions and stars, Phys. Rev. D 36 (1987) 2201 [INSPIRE].
- [103] A. Burrows, M.S. Turner and R.P. Brinkmann, Axions and SN 1987a, Phys. Rev. D 39 (1989) 1020 [INSPIRE].
- [104] R. Essig, R. Harnik, J. Kaplan and N. Toro, Discovering new light states at neutrino experiments, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 113008 [arXiv:1008.0636] [INSPIRE].
- [105] E949 collaboration, New measurement of the $K^+ \rightarrow \pi^+ \nu \bar{\nu}$ branching ratio, Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 191802 [arXiv:0808.2459] [INSPIRE].
- [106] LHCb collaboration, Search for hidden-sector bosons in $B^0 \to K^{*0}\mu^+\mu^-$ decays, Phys. Rev. Lett. **115** (2015) 161802 [arXiv:1508.04094] [INSPIRE].
- [107] LHCb collaboration, Search for long-lived scalar particles in $B^+ \to K^+ \chi(\mu^+ \mu^-)$ decays, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 071101 [arXiv:1612.07818] [INSPIRE].
- [108] I.I. Tkachev, Phase transitions at preheating, Phys. Lett. B 376 (1996) 35 [hep-th/9510146] [INSPIRE].
- [109] S. Kasuya, M. Kawasaki and T. Yanagida, Cosmological axion problem in chaotic inflationary universe, Phys. Lett. B 409 (1997) 94 [hep-ph/9608405] [INSPIRE].

- [110] S. Kasuya and M. Kawasaki, Can topological defects be formed during preheating?, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 7597 [hep-ph/9703354] [INSPIRE].
- [111] I. Tkachev, S. Khlebnikov, L. Kofman and A.D. Linde, Cosmic strings from preheating, Phys. Lett. B 440 (1998) 262 [hep-ph/9805209] [INSPIRE].
- [112] P. Sikivie, Of axions, domain walls and the early universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 1156
 [INSPIRE].
- [113] T. Hiramatsu, M. Kawasaki and K. Saikawa, Evolution of string-wall networks and axionic domain wall problem, JCAP 08 (2011) 030 [arXiv:1012.4558] [INSPIRE].
- [114] T. Hiramatsu, M. Kawasaki, K. Saikawa and T. Sekiguchi, Axion cosmology with long-lived domain walls, JCAP 01 (2013) 001 [arXiv:1207.3166] [INSPIRE].
- [115] A. Ringwald and K. Saikawa, Axion dark matter in the post-inflationary Peccei-Quinn symmetry breaking scenario, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 085031 [Addendum ibid. 94 (2016) 049908] [arXiv:1512.06436] [INSPIRE].
- [116] K. Harigaya and M. Kawasaki, QCD axion dark matter from long-lived domain walls during matter domination, Phys. Lett. B 782 (2018) 1 [arXiv:1802.00579] [INSPIRE].
- [117] P. Moxhay and K. Yamamoto, Peccei-Quinn symmetry breaking by radiative corrections in supergravity, Phys. Lett. B 151 (1985) 363 [INSPIRE].
- [118] K. Harigaya, M. Ibe, M. Kawasaki and T.T. Yanagida, Dynamics of Peccei-Quinn breaking field after inflation and axion isocurvature perturbations, JCAP 11 (2015) 003
 [arXiv:1507.00119] [INSPIRE].
- [119] M. Kawasaki and T. Takesako, Hubble induced mass in radiation dominated universe, Phys. Lett. B 711 (2012) 173 [arXiv:1112.5823] [INSPIRE].
- [120] M. Kawasaki and T. Takesako, Remarks on Hubble induced mass from fermion Kinetic term, Phys. Lett. B 718 (2012) 522 [arXiv:1208.1323] [INSPIRE].
- [121] M. Kawasaki, F. Takahashi and T. Takesako, Hubble-induced mass from MSSM plasma, JCAP 04 (2013) 008 [arXiv:1211.4921] [INSPIRE].
- [122] B. Spokoiny, Deflationary universe scenario, Phys. Lett. B 315 (1993) 40 [gr-qc/9306008]
 [INSPIRE].
- [123] M. Joyce, Electroweak baryogenesis and the expansion rate of the universe, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 1875 [hep-ph/9606223] [INSPIRE].
- [124] P. Salati, Quintessence and the relic density of neutralinos, Phys. Lett. B 571 (2003) 121
 [astro-ph/0207396] [INSPIRE].
- [125] F. D'Eramo, N. Fernandez and S. Profumo, When the universe expands too fast: relentless dark matter, JCAP 05 (2017) 012 [arXiv:1703.04793] [INSPIRE].
- [126] K. Redmond and A.L. Erickcek, New constraints on dark matter production during kination, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 043511 [arXiv:1704.01056] [INSPIRE].
- [127] F. D'Eramo, N. Fernandez and S. Profumo, Dark matter freeze-in production in fast-expanding universes, JCAP 02 (2018) 046 [arXiv:1712.07453] [INSPIRE].
- [128] L. Visinelli, (Non-)thermal production of WIMPs during kination, Symmetry 10 (2018) 546
 [arXiv:1710.11006] [INSPIRE].

- [129] Y. Cui, M. Lewicki, D.E. Morrissey and J.D. Wells, Probing the pre-BBN universe with gravitational waves from cosmic strings, JHEP 01 (2019) 081 [arXiv:1808.08968]
 [INSPIRE].
- [130] N. Bernal and F. Hajkarim, Primordial gravitational waves in nonstandard cosmologies, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 063502 [arXiv:1905.10410] [INSPIRE].
- [131] N. Ramberg and L. Visinelli, Probing the early universe with axion physics and gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 123513 [arXiv:1904.05707] [INSPIRE].
- [132] Y. Gouttenoire, G. Servant and P. Simakachorn, Beyond the standard models with cosmic strings, JCAP 07 (2020) 032 [arXiv:1912.02569] [INSPIRE].
- [133] K. Redmond, A. Trezza and A.L. Erickcek, Growth of dark matter Perturbations during kination, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 063504 [arXiv:1807.01327] [INSPIRE].
- [134] L. Visinelli and J. Redondo, Axion miniclusters in modified cosmological Histories, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 023008 [arXiv:1808.01879] [INSPIRE].
- [135] G.F. Giudice, M.A. Luty, H. Murayama and R. Rattazzi, Gaugino mass without singlets, JHEP 12 (1998) 027 [hep-ph/9810442] [INSPIRE].
- [136] J.D. Wells, PeV-scale supersymmetry, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 015013 [hep-ph/0411041]
 [INSPIRE].
- [137] M. Ibe, T. Moroi and T.T. Yanagida, Possible signals of wino LSP at the Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Lett. B 644 (2007) 355 [hep-ph/0610277] [INSPIRE].
- B.S. Acharya, K. Bobkov, G.L. Kane, P. Kumar and J. Shao, Explaining the electroweak scale and stabilizing moduli in M-theory, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 126010 [hep-th/0701034]
 [INSPIRE].
- [139] L.J. Hall and Y. Nomura, Spread supersymmetry, JHEP 01 (2012) 082 [arXiv:1111.4519]
 [INSPIRE].
- [140] M. Ibe and T.T. Yanagida, The lightest Higgs boson mass in pure gravity mediation model, Phys. Lett. B 709 (2012) 374 [arXiv:1112.2462] [INSPIRE].
- [141] A. Arvanitaki, N. Craig, S. Dimopoulos and G. Villadoro, *Mini-split*, *JHEP* 02 (2013) 126 [arXiv:1210.0555] [INSPIRE].
- [142] N. Arkani-Hamed, A. Gupta, D.E. Kaplan, N. Weiner and T. Zorawski, Simply unnatural supersymmetry, arXiv:1212.6971 [INSPIRE].
- [143] Y. Okada, M. Yamaguchi and T. Yanagida, Renormalization group analysis on the higgs mass in the softly broken supersymmetric standard model, Phys. Lett. B 262 (1991) 54
 [INSPIRE].
- [144] Y. Okada, M. Yamaguchi and T. Yanagida, Upper bound of the lightest Higgs boson mass in the minimal supersymmetric standard model, Prog. Theor. Phys. 85 (1991) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [145] J.R. Ellis, G. Ridolfi and F. Zwirner, Radiative corrections to the masses of supersymmetric higgs bosons, Phys. Lett. B 257 (1991) 83 [INSPIRE].
- [146] H.E. Haber and R. Hempfling, Can the mass of the lightest higgs boson of the minimal supersymmetric model be larger than m_Z?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 66 (1991) 1815 [INSPIRE].
- [147] L. Randall and R. Sundrum, Out of this world supersymmetry breaking, Nucl. Phys. B 557 (1999) 79 [hep-th/9810155] [INSPIRE].

- [148] J.A. Bagger, T. Moroi and E. Poppitz, Anomaly mediation in supergravity theories, JHEP 04 (2000) 009 [hep-th/9911029] [INSPIRE].
- [149] F. D'Eramo, J. Thaler and Z. Thomas, The two faces of anomaly mediation, JHEP 06 (2012) 151 [arXiv:1202.1280] [INSPIRE].
- [150] K. Harigaya and M. Ibe, Anomaly mediated gaugino mass and path-Integral Measure, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 085028 [arXiv:1409.5029] [INSPIRE].
- [151] G.D. Coughlan, W. Fischler, E.W. Kolb, S. Raby and G.G. Ross, Cosmological problems for the polonyi potential, Phys. Lett. B 131 (1983) 59 [INSPIRE].
- [152] J. Hisano, S. Matsumoto, M. Nagai, O. Saito and M. Senami, Non-perturbative effect on thermal relic abundance of dark matter, Phys. Lett. B 646 (2007) 34 [hep-ph/0610249]
 [INSPIRE].
- [153] M. Cirelli, A. Strumia and M. Tamburini, Cosmology and astrophysics of minimal dark matter, Nucl. Phys. B 787 (2007) 152 [arXiv:0706.4071] [INSPIRE].
- [154] S. Weinberg, Cosmological constraints on the scale of supersymmetry Breaking, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 1303 [INSPIRE].
- [155] M.Y. Khlopov and A.D. Linde, Is it easy to save the gravitino?, Phys. Lett. B 138 (1984) 265 [INSPIRE].
- [156] M. Kawasaki, K. Kohri, T. Moroi and A. Yotsuyanagi, Big-Bang nucleosynthesis and gravitino, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 065011 [arXiv:0804.3745] [INSPIRE].
- [157] M. Kawasaki and T. Moroi, Gravitino production in the inflationary universe and the effects on big bang nucleosynthesis, Prog. Theor. Phys. 93 (1995) 879 [hep-ph/9403364] [INSPIRE].
- [158] M. Kawasaki, K. Kohri and T. Moroi, Big-Bang nucleosynthesis and hadronic decay of long-lived massive particles, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 083502 [astro-ph/0408426] [INSPIRE].
- [159] M. Kawasaki and E. Sonomoto, Domain wall and isocurvature perturbation problems in a supersymmetric axion model, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 083507 [arXiv:1710.07269]
 [INSPIRE].
- [160] V. Domcke, Y. Ema, K. Mukaida and M. Yamada, Spontaneous baryogenesis from axions with generic couplings, JHEP 08 (2020) 096 [arXiv:2006.03148] [INSPIRE].
- [161] D.J. Gross, R.D. Pisarski and L.G. Yaffe, QCD and instantons at finite temperature, Rev. Mod. Phys. 53 (1981) 43 [INSPIRE].